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Al Mecting

The Ameal Mecting of Hee bolders of cononon shares
af Alcan Aleminivens Limited will be beld on Thursday,
April 22,1999, The meeting will take place at 16:00 aon,
in the Asseanbly Hall of the nternational Crivil Aviation
Organization, Atruow Untrance, Y99 University Street,
Maontreal, Qrebec, Canada.

Definitions

e word “Alean or " Company™ means Alcan
Alrmginienn Lingited and, where applicable, one or more
consofidated subsidiarics, A “subsidiary™ s & company
controlled by Alcar. A “joimt ventire”
(incorporated or unincorporated) of companies fointly
wndertaking some commercial enterprise and propor-
tiomately consolidated to the extest of Acan's partici-
fration. A “related company ™ ts one in which Alean bas
sigmfrcant influence over panagement bre owns $0%
or less of the voting stock. The " Alcan Group ™ refers to
Mean Aluntiniven Lannted, its subsidiaries, joind venlures
and refated contpanies,

{s an assockation

In this report, wnless stated otherwise, all dollar amotnts
are stated m Uited States dollars and all guantities in
metric tons, ar tonnes. A tonne is 1,000 Lilograms, or
2,204.6 pounads.

The follotwing abbireviations are wsed:
r per tonne

kt thonsand toynes

b[.")‘ themsand tonnes por year

My nullion tonies

My suitlion tonies per vear

Clossary

Alumina: Most aluminag is a white, powdery substance
prroduced from Danxite by a chemical process during
which altonmum oxide is extracted from the ore. Benveen
fonr and fiee tomies of banxite are required 1o produce
abonet tteo tounes of alwming, whicl vield one tonne

of alvntinan.

Alwminunn: Although alwonamng is the most common
mietal on earth, constititing 8% of the planct’s crust, it
15 never forend i its pure form. Alientinan metal is pro-
deeced by separatng alwminian from oxygen i alumina.

Bauxite: The wmost cconamic sonrce of alwmiman i
bauxite, an ore or rock composed of Irvdrots alweminon
axtdes and aluminm bydroxides, [tz predominantly
fornd in tropical and sub-trapical regions.

Chemicals: The Alcan Gronp alse produces chemical-
grade aluming (aluntiaa bydrate), the starting waterial
for a wide rariety of S['ycm.".r)' chewical [lrt)drr(‘l.\'.

Fabricated Praducts: Generally, fabricated products
are rolfed products (sheet and fol) as well as rod, wire
and cable, extrided and dratwn products and castings.

1.itho Sheet: Atvninm sheet is widely nsed as the
mietal plage on wlich an ivnage is produced for litho-
graphic printing.

FLondon Metal Exchange (1ME): The LME s a nietals
trading centre for the Western World. The [.ME also
determines the metal price iper tonnet for aluptinum
trading for cierrent and future deliery.

Rofled Products: At refling vulls, sheer ingots are reduced
o1 thickness by passing them between rallers in a series
of reversing bot mills and, fraally, i a cotd sull, For
example, a 30-toune sheet ingot can be rolfed o a coil
of wp to 2.7 nretres in diamcerer.

Secondary (Recycled) Metal: Adunrinion mgar can be
made by remclting Used Beverage Cans (UBCs) or any
other post-consimer serap, as well as cnstomer process
serap. Reevelmg alwmiinion only requires about 3% of
the energy requared to produce primary mctal.

Sheet and Foil: Sheet is a flat-rolled metal primaridy
used for the comtamer, lithography, transportation and
huilding end-nse markets. Foil is a thin sheet of metal,
nsually loss than 00006 inch (0,13 midlimerer) thick, and
ivisaeidely vsed in bousehold aind comprercial packaging
and industrial product applications.

Smpelting: Printary aluntnon s originally prodiced
thronugh the clectrofvtic reduction of aluniina (simelting
processt, The molten abomiman is then cast into ingols
and then fabricated into a varicty of products.,

Tolling: Alcan rolls or converts cnstomer-aunred nietal,
This activity i called tolling,
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Pabricated Prodiccts
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&t
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1552 e ,‘79'7'”6 1 i shipments adjusted
1813 1.812 i for acquisitions
Lot ’ and divestnents
T
\
\
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Fabricated products shipments grew 7% with an
increased share of key markets achicved. Adpusted
Jor acguisitions and divestments, sbrpments bave
gromm 60% m the past five years.

1998 1997 1996

Financial Data (w millions of USS. except per common share amiounts)
Sales and operating revenues 7,789 7777 7,614
Net income before extraordinary item 399 468 410
Net income 399 483 410
Economic Value Added (EVA®)® (285) {285) (310)
Return (%) on average common shareholders” equity 7 10 9
Total assets {at year-end) 9,901 9.374 9,228
Capiral expenditures 877 641 482
Ratio of borrowiugs to equity (at year-end) 24:76 23:77 23:.77
Per common share i USS?

Net income before extraordinary item 1.71 2.02 1.74

Net income 1.71 2.09 1,74

Cash from operating activities 3.25 3.17 4.34

Dividends 0.60 0.60 0.60

Common shareholders’ cquity (at year-end) 23.71 21.43 20,57
Operating Data jin thousands of tonnes)
Fabricated products shipments®* 2,112 [,970 1,797
Ingot products shipmengs® ™ 829 §38 810
Primary aluminum production 1,481 i,429 1,407
Secondary/recycled aluminum production 684 670 639
Average Three-Month LME Price (i USS/tomn) 1,379 1,620 1,536

® EVA s a registered trademark of Stern Stereart & Co.
“ncliudes prodicts fabricated from customer-ounred metal.
v fneledes primary and secondary igot and scrap.



Profile

Alcan Aluminium Limited, a Canadian
corporation, is the parent company of an
international group involved in all aspects of
the aluminum industry. Through subsidiaries,
joint ventures and relared companies around
the world, the activities of the Alcan Group
include bauxite mining, alumina refining,
power generation, aluminum smelting, manu-
facturing and recycling as well as research

Alcan . . . the partner of choice.

and rechnology. Close ro 40,000 people are
directly employed by the Company.

In the 97 vears since it was established, Alcan
has developed a unique combination of
competitive strengths. The Alcan Group is

a multicultural and multilingual enterprise
reflecting the differing corporare and social
characteristics of the many countries in
which it operates. Within a universal frame-
work of policies and objectives, individual
subsidiaries conduct their operations with a
large measure of autonomy. With operattons
and sales offices in more than 30 countries,
the Alcan Group is one of the most interna-
tional aluminum companies and a leading
producer of flat-rolled aluminum products.

Alcan Aluminium Limited has approximately
20,340 registered holders of its common
shares and 860 registered holders of its
preference shares. While distributed inter-
nationally, the Company’s shares are mostly
held in North America. The word ALCAN
and the Alcan symbol are registered trade-
marks in more than 100 countries and are
synonymous with aluminum the world over.

Alvan Aavtnzem Lated

Growing with Our Partners

Growing with Our Partners is the
focus of this year's Annual Report, and
strength, growth and value are at the

core of our strategic intent.

3 t re n g t h reflects Alcan's

strong financial state, its healthy debt-to-
equity ratio and improved profitability.
It also signifies the quality and dedication
of Alcan’s 40,000 employees. Finally,
strength together with light weight,
thermal and electrical conductivity,
barrier qualities, infinite recyclability
and many other characteristics make

aluminum . . . the material of choice.

f.; row t h is working with

all our stakeholders to develop and
deliver value-added, differentiated
aluminum products, bringing increased
value to our customers. It means con-
tinuous improvement in everything we
do — earnings, technology, employee
development, safety, and environ-
mental stewardship. Growth is about
looking to a new future as we enter
the new millennium — fully optimizing
our existing assets and aggressively
pursuing opportunities to grow share-

holder value.

V d 1 u e is the reason we're here,

It is an ongoing commitment — to our
shareholders, to our customers, to and
by our employees — to create value in
everything we do. It also symbolizes
Alcan's values — our ethics, our conduct,

our reputation.



Message to Shareholders

John B Evars (lett)
Chairman ot the Board,
and Jacques Boume
Pry-dent and Chief

Leecative Officer

Qur Strategic Priorities

w bstablish and bnplement aggressive new Full Business Potential

[

targets for 1999 and bevond.

o Strengthen the position of aluminune in the marketplace through
industry leadership and position Alcan as the multinational partuer
of choice for global custonmers i select primary and seni-fabricated
aluminum narkets.

o Aggressively seek out opportunities to maximize shareholder value.



Alcan‘s aggressive Full Business Potential process helped offset ditficult business
conditions during 1998, as commodity markets were under pressure and the
price of aluminum declined by 20% in the course of the vear. We made significant
progress towards meeting our commitments in regard to all three strategic priorities
that had been identified for 1998.

Full Business Potential on target

In terms of Full Business Potential, we are right on targer, having reached two-thirds
of our ambitious goal — to improve pre-tax carnings by $450 million over a three-year
period. A substantial portion of the improvement realized during 1998 was accounted
for by our fabricated products sector where we gained market share and our shipments
worldwide grew by 7% — for a rotal increase of 60% since 1993. Also, in our alumina
operations we achieved a $10-per-tonne savings in production costs on top of a similar
reduction the previous year.

Alcan’s Full Business Potential program 1s a continuous improvement process in pursuit
of earning, at a minimum, our cost of capital — the key to creating shareholder value.
We are currently setting ambitious new targets tor 1999 and bevond.

Strengthening aluminum in the marketplace

Through active participation of senior managers in major North American and European
tcrade associations, we exercised global feadership on key industry issues ranging from
the value of aluminum recvcling to trade issues and environmental matters.

Fabricated products shipments worldwide grew by 7% -— for a total
increase of 60% since 1993.

Maximizing shareholder value

Certain strategic initiatives in our alumina and chemicals sector were undertaken

in 1998, such as our bauxite-related arrangements in Australia and Ghana, modern-
ization of our alumina refinerv in Quebec and disposal of certain assets in Ireland,
Guinea and Quebec. Other significant achievements in 1998 were:

® A 10-year strategic alliance with General Motors.

® Commencement of construction of the US$1.6-billion Alma, Quebec, smelter project.

® An 18-year agreement on operational stability with unionized employees in Quebec.

Mossage £ Sarcbofders



® Repositioning and consolidation in the
Asia/Pacific region, obtaiing majortry
interest in Indian Aluminium Company,
Limited (54.6%) in India and reducing
our share in Nippon Light Metal
Company, Ltd. in Japanto 11.2%.

® Major expansion of the Pindamon-
hangaba, Brazil, rolling mill, now close
to completion with over § million con-
struction hours without an accident, and
a new recycling plant up and running,.

* Dynamic performance by Alcan’s
North American fabricated products
operations, which achieved positive
EVA® in each of its businesses.

Insofar as EVA, or Economic Value
Added, i1s concerned, neither Alcan nor
others in the industry have earned their
cost of capital for some vears now. That
was the case again in 1998. On a posirtive
note, however, Alcan was able to main-
tain the same EVA as in 1997 despite
much lower metal prices. In other words,
we continue to increase the underlying
profitability of the Company.

Customer focus paying off

There is no doubt that the stellar per-
formance of Alcan’s North American
fabricating operations — which are now
able to boast of industry-best practices
in a number of arcas — was a factor in
attaining the multi-billion-dollar General
Motors supply agreement. The opera-
tional stability agreement with our Quebec
workers helps ensure that automobile
manufacturers and other customers will
have a reliable supply of meral.

FVA i a registered trademark of
Stern Steteart & Co.

EVA — a Key Measure of
Performance for Alcan

Alcan has made excellent progress over
the past several years in terms of achiev-
ing its strategic objectives, thanks in
large part to the success of our ongoing
Full Business Potential process. As we
continue to move forward, it is impera-
tive that we have tools in place that
enable us to assess our performance

by a consistent measure and — perhaps
more importantly — help us identify
areas that offer the greatest opportu-

nity for further improvement.

EVA, an acronym for economic value
added, provides us with such a tool.

It measures real profitability — the dif-
ference between the return on capital
and the cost for using that capital over
the same period. If returns exceed
our cost of capital, we have created
value. EVA also provides a platform
for linking management compensation
to the creation of value. it enforces
an entrepreneurial culture wherein
employees think and act like owners

of the Company.

Dozens of other major corporations
worldwide already have adopted EVA,
and have found there is a correlation
between an improving EVA and an
increasing share price. Not surprisingly,
many investors now look to EVA as

a key indicator of the real return they

are receiving on their investments.

With EVA in place, Alcan is in a better
position to fulfill its commitment to
increasing shareholder value and
realizing the full potential of all its

operations.

Sossdne 1o Sarchobidens
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Alcan’s determination ro position itself as the most-responsive and lowest-cost supplier
in its chosen markets is the main mortivation behind the current realignment of our
European operations. As such, we must be able to anticipate the changing needs of
our customers in Europe, and to provide a consistently high level of customer service.

We are determined to optimize our growth potential by strong
customer partnerships and market leadership, providing value-added,
differentiated aluminum products.

In Brazil, too, Alcan’s customer focus is evident in our decision to invest in the expan-
sion of our Pindamonhangaba rolling facility and enhance our position as the only
domestic supplier of can sheet to that country’s rapidly growing beverage industry —
another of the global customer groups that we have targeted.

Setting new standards for workplace safety and the environment

At Alcan, we view our record in the area of employee health and safety as an impor-
tant indicator of the organization’s overall performance. Our ultimate goal is zero
work-related injuries and illnesses. We are pleased to note a much-improved performance
throughout the Alcan Group in 1998, with significant reductions in key indicators
such as Recordable Case and Days Lost rates. Especially notewortby is the achieve-
ment of the workers and managers at our rolling mill expansion project in Brazil, who
surpassed 5 million construction hours without a lost-time accident. That is a truly
remarkable feat — and augurs well for a smooth start-up of the expanded facility.

During the year, Alcan also exercised
_1;)4}15 Lost Rate industry leadership in terms of environ-
— — ' mental responsibility, with the revision
to its corporate environmental policy.

@ Apmal Days Jost

Rate/100 employees The comprehensive policy statement

i

encompasses six guiding principles,
which raise the bar in terms of the
standards by which the aluminum

industry facilitates sustainable devel-

opment and operates in a manner

S

compatible with the environment.

1998

The Days Lost Rate is the number of days

missed duce to cecupational injuries or ilinesses in
100 employees working one year (200,000 hours).
During recent years, Alcan employees bave worked
difigently to improve the Days Lost Rate.

Message to Sharcholders
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Acknowledgments

An organization’s performance stands or falls on the strength of its people — and the
results of Alcan’s second global survey of employees underscore how fortunate we

are in terms of the remarkable esprit de corps that exists throughout the Alcan family,
In terms of teamwork, for instance, the favourable response by Alcan employees was
almost 20 percentage points higher than the average for major North American-based
businesses. We would like to thank the entire Alcan team for their hard work and
dedication during a difficult year.

Alcan’s Board of Directors also wishes to express its sincere appreciation to Sonja Bata
and Bill Blundell, who will not be standing for re-election at the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders in April this year, having reached retirement age. We are grateful to
Mrs. Bata for her 20 years of valued contribution, serving on the Audit Committee
from 1981 ro 1992 and then as an ardent member of the Environment Committee.
We also wish to express our thanks for the wise counsel of Mr. Blundell, who joined

the Board in 1988 and served as a member of the Audit Committee, hecoming its
Chairman in 1996.

We welcome Paul M. Tellier, President and Chief Executive Officer of Canadian
National Railway Company, to Alcan’s Board of Directors, and wish to thank our
fellow Board members for their unstinting support and counsel.

QOutlook

It appears that 1999 will be another challenging year for the aluminum industry, wirh
Western World aluminum consumption forecast to grow by only 1% and metal prices
expected to remain low. However, Alcan has a strong balance sheet and intends to be an
active participant in the on-going restructuring of the industry. We will seek out appro-
priate acquisition opportunities as an additional way of building shareholder value.

We will optimize our growth potential by strong customer partnerships and market
leadership, providing value-added, differentiated aluminum products. We believe we
can be the best partner in our chosen markets. Strength, growth and value are the core
of our strategic intent.

b Y. Qv

John R. Evans Jacques Bougie
Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Qfficer

February 11, 1999

Message ta Sharehidders



Growing with Qur Partners

Strength, growth and value

are at the core of Alcan’s strategic intent. We do more than make and
sell aluminum — we build alliances with all our stakebholders. We also
take pride in developing and delivering value-added, technically advanced
aluminum products, making Alcan the partner of choice.




David Moore (right), vice president and director of

technology for Alcan Global Automotive Preducts,
examines an aluminum deck lid with Roland Harings,

sales and marketing manager for European auto sheet.

The automotive scctor represents one of
aluminum’s

and Alcan’s — most exciting
opportunities for the next millennium.
Significant market growth is anticipated in
everything from car structures and body
panels to powertrains, chassis components
and brake rotors.

A decade of automotive research and develop-
ment has established Alcan as a world leader
in delivering solutions to bring the benefits

of aluminum to every aspect of the vehicle
value chain — from design 10 recycling. Alcan’s
patented alloys and proprietary technologies
are key conrriburors to the growing accep-
tance of aluminum as the preferred material
for a new generation of sate, light-weight and
fuel-efficient vehicles,

Kingston Works, in Canada, is an integral part of Alcan’s
North American rolling system producing aluminum sheet
with the exceptional surface quality and formability
required by automakers. This plant was the first of several
Alcan facilities to earn 0S8-9000 status — the auto industry’s

quality supplier designation.

Aluminum’s combination of light weight
and high strength allows automakers

to improve fuel economy and reduce
emissions without compromising safety.
With crash test studies on aluminum cars
showing equal or better performance
than stee! equivalents, aluminum will be
key to safely bridging society’s environ-
mental needs with regional preferences

for size, comfort and affordability.

Alcan is positioned to be the leading
supplier of aluminum sheet to the

global auto industry.

Strength-to-
 Weight Ratios

Yield Strengti/Density |
(MPalkg s m3) |

fender Structural
Sheet

®» Alwnrbuon
W Sree!

Cirpeng with Our Pariners

Alcan’s technology
allows the application
of aluminum sheet
using techniques that
are compatible with
existing high-volume
automobile production
methods — easing the

transition to aluminum.

Aluminum’s high
strength-to-weight
ratio enables car
structures and body
panels to be lighter
than steel but just

as strong.

g



As a result, Alcan is positioned 1o be the
leading supplier of aluminum sheet to the
global auto industry. This marker represents
potential annual sales of 300,000 tonnes
for Alcan within a decade.

Alcan’s automotive success is the product not
only of technology, creativity and commit-
ment burt also the result of building strategic

alliances with leading automakers worldwide.

An example is the landmark partnership
and ten-year supply agreement signed with
General Motors in late 1998, This strategic
alliance not only helps to resolve the long-
standing issue of stable metal costs, it also
provides a framework for continued joint

research and development aimed at expanding
the use of aluminum in GM’s cars and trucks.

Alcan has planned ahead to meet the demand-

ing requirements of the automotive market,

Global Growth
j&\FO}"L’C(!S!

The use of aluminum
in automobiles is
expected to reach
between seven and
eight million tonnes

by 2005.

Sotree: Alcan data
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Alcan has planned ahead to meet the demanding requirements of
the automotive market, particularty in sheet applications.

Aluminum use is
growing in automaotive
applications ranging
from fenders to radia-
tors, while DURALCAN
aluminum-matrix
composites are finding
increased favour for
products such as brake

rotors and drums.

1o

Cirenerng et Oz Partmers

particularly in sheet applications. In the last
decade, we have invested over $1 billion in
our world-class rolling system. Moreover, the
$1.6-billion Alma smelter under construction
in Quebee will further ensure the reliabiliry
of mertal supply to all our customers.

Moreover, the recent creation of Alcan
Global Auromotive Products as a new busi-
ness unit will enable the seamless, svstem-
wide integration of Alcan’s auromotive busi-
ness initiatives worldwide — advancing our
pursuit of aluminum-intensive vehicles with
high-volume automakers.

A body-in-white for an aluminum-intensive vehicle,
built with Alcan's exclusive Aluminum Vehicle

Technology (AVT) system.



By the time the next generation takes to the road, cars will be lighter,
even more energy efficient and more responsive. Aluminum will be the
prime reason for these advances and Alcan’s technology will help to
make that happen.

Gromgong werth Onr Partners
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Not only is Alcan a supplier of choice in the
automotive market, but we also have strategic
parmerships in the all-important containers
and packaging sector as well as in other prod-
ucts such as lithographic sheet. Simtlarly, we
are pursuing relacionships with customers in
the fin stock product sector. In the electrical
cable market, srrong customer alliances build
extra value in our products and service, while
in the building and construction sector our
mictal is trequently specified for major pro-
jects around the globe.

Through these partnerships, Alcan offers

unique value. We develop and produce techni- Aluminum’s light weight, formability, barrier qualities and
C{l”y advanccd, differentimcd, semi-fabricated thermal conductivity make it the ideal material for food and
products and our continued investment in beverage packaging. Aluminum containers can be shaped,
rolling and recvcling facilities strengthens our coated and embassed for functional and decarative purpases.

position as a market leader in our chosen
producr sectors.

The aluminurn beverage can continues to
grow as a premier package for end users.

| i Aluminum’s properties, including complete
S’[I’Oﬂg customer alllaﬂceS bU||d extra recyclability with no deterioration in quality
value In our prOd ucts and service. as well as the value incentive for collection,

provide a unique market niche for alurmnum
beverage cans when compared to competing
materials. Alcan’s North American can srock
shipments were up in 1998, eclipsing the
previous record, outperforming the indusery
average and increasing marker share, Industry
competing materials - gains were driven by a risc¢ in can shipments
the econemic value to 103 billion cans in the U.S. alone. Alcan’s

of the used beverage

Aluminum beverage
cans hawve a higher

salvage value than

recycling levels in North America also topped
cans recycled by the previous year with over 20 billion cans.

Alcan worldwide ; .
e In South America, can sheet consumption

has grown by about 20% per year since
1996. Alcan’s $370-million expansion of the
Pindamonhangaba plant in Brazil will start
up in 1999 — ¢he largest aluminum rolling
operation in the region and the only one
capable of producing can sheet. A new
recycling facility, with an ultimarte capacity
of 80,000 tonnes per vear, is already opera-
tional as part of the Brazilian expansion.

N 1998 is estimated

at §370 million.

In Europe, aluminum food packaging repre-
sents about 35% ot the European rolled
products market, while in Asia, aluminum
conrtinucs to gain market acceprance.

Ciroterry with Onr Partsers
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Alcan’s other markets for aluminum include
lithographic offser printing, where aluminum
sheets with unsurpassed surface quality

and flatness are imperative. For the printing
process, an image is transferred to a flat
lithographic sheer, ink is applied and a princ
is made by passing the image via a rubber roll
to the paper. Aluininum lithographic sheets
are ideal for this process and, once used,
they are easily recycled.

Alcan is alse a major supplier of aluminum
transmission and diseriburion cable ro public
utilities as well as a producer of aluminum
alloy building wire for the construction
industry. Once again, Alcan’s strength in
innovation, quality and delivery distinguish
the Company from the competition and clear
the way for developing strategic alliances
with customers,

In addition, Alcan produces valuc-added
extrusion ingot for independent extruders
who fabricate products in an almost untim-
ited range of profiles and shapes. Extrusions
are generally destined for the building and
construction market, but no marter what
the application, architects and designers find
that aluminum’s high strength-to-weight
ratio, versatility, durability and decorative
potenrial offer unique advantages.

Alcan aluminum lithographic sheet offers the printimg

imdustry unsurpassed surface quality and flatness s

also 100% recyclable.

Aluminum is an indispensable part

of our modern technological society.
Perhaps it is most evident in the form
of aluminum beverage cans and foil
products, but the metal is now found
all around us — ranging from high
speed trains and supersonic airptanes to
building products and sporting equip-
ment. The newspapers and magazines
that we read are often printed using
aluminum lithographic sheets and our
refrigeration and electronic components

frequently contain aluminum.

Aluminum is the material of choice

in many applications — from bridges

in Scandinavia and Canada to the
curtain-wall cladding on the world’s
tallest building, the Twin Towers complex
in Malaysia. In the automotive sector,
fenders, doors and deck lids are now
being made of aluminum sheet and
soon we'll see more aluminum body
structures. Driveshafts and brake rotors
made from DURALCAN aluminum-
matrix composites are already in pro-
duction. And we see aluminum signs at
the side of the road as we pass towers

supporting aluminum electrical cable.

As society continues to look for products
that can be recycled economically,
aluminum will continue to gain ground

against competing materials.

Cornteany roetde Uheer Purtners



Corporate Social Responsibility

Alcan is committed

to industry leadership in occupational bealth and safety, community
relations and environmental performance. The strength of this commit-
ment stems from the participation and determination of our employees,
both on the job and as volunteers in local community initiatives.

14




Community and Environment

Just as sustainable growth requires an inte-
grated business strategy, Alcan’s community
programs frequently combine the concepts
of environmental management and educa-
tion with aluminum’s recyclability and
unique properties.

Community recycling programs often depend
on collecting used aluminum beverage cans,
demonstrating one aspect of aluminum’s grow-
ing value as a material of choice. Protection

of the environment is a high priority for every

Alcan employee, requiring a continuing effort
to improve our products and processes.

Health and Safety

A continued trend in the reduction of Alcan's

work-related injuries and illnesses was evident

in 1998, The commitment of all employees is
a key factor in creating a work environment
thar enhances safety excellence.

As we strive for continual improvement in
occupational health, industrial hygiene and
safety, we are focused on reviewing and
updating our methodology for managing
these areas within all Alcan Group compa-
nies. Similar to the management system
approach used ro achieve accreditation to
quality or environmental standards, these

Protection of the environment is a high priority for every

Alcan employee.

In 1998, Alcan set a goal to strive

for environmental leadership within
the industry. We will continue to
develop and implement state-of-the-art
environmental systems and adopt
world-class practices for land use and
residue disposal.

And, by working in partnership with
customers and suppliers, we will help to
create products that take full advantage
of aluminum’s properties throughout
the product life cycle. For all our
stakeholders, the message is clear —

at Alcan, environmental standards are

not negotiable.

Communiy investmenl programs include imatives
such as this one at Alran Jamaica Company, where
envirgnmental studies for primary school students

are part of an Outreach Program

efforts will lead to a global shift in
the manner in which all Alcan
employees approach work- ‘
place health and safety. & °

In 1998, Behavioural Based

Safety (BBS) was reviewed as

an imnovative tool to improve
health and safety performance.
Founded on scientific principles, BBS
incorporates ongoing problem solving and
employee involvement. It identifies and
corrects existing systems that produce at-risk
behaviour and develops new systems to
encourage safe behaviours, BBS will comple-
ment our existing management approach and
strengthen Alcan’s position in occupational
health and safery.

Corprorate Sociad Respronsahdity

All employees have the

responsibility of ident:fy-
Ny cecupational health

and satety hazards

15



Sponsoring an international athlete is not
an everyday occurrence tor Alean, bur with
Chantal Petitclere, a world-class, wheelchair
athlete, it 1s a golden opportunity. Chantal
is a five-time medal winner at the 1996
Paralvmpics ar Atlanta and a world-record
holder 1n the 100-metre event. She has also
won the hearts of Alcan employees around
the globe.

Alcan sponsars
wheelchair athlete
Chantal Petitclerc who
Alcan employees worldwide ave involved in
their communiries, offering support to charni-
table causes and recyeling projects. Alcan

is on her way — riding
on aluminum — to the

2000 Olympic Games

continues to assist comununities in need, such
as those affecred by hurricanes Georges and
Mirch in North and Central America.

Alcan recognizes the need to contribute
to the advancement of knowledge and
know-how, especially with the young
leaders of tomorrow.

Community and Education

Alcan recognizes the need to contribute to the
advancement of knowledge and know-how, f | ,
especially with the leaders of tomorrow,
. ([ 4
Initiated by Alecan, the popular program, : ‘ fE
Working for a Better Tomorrow, is now mush-
rooming into a global network of elementary
school, environment-related microbusinesses.
Since tts launch ten vears ago in Quebec, the
program has grown to include two regional
efforts in Brazil, nine schools in Canada and,
this year, the first U.S. project was inaugu-
rated near Alcan’s Scbree smieleer in Kentucky.

Mentorship programs in Europe and Canada
continue to be very successful. For example,
as onc of the largest participants in the
Canadian apprenticeship program, Career
Fdge, Alcan has provided, in the past two

years, over 100 university graduates with

their first work experience. Also, Alean intro- Eccle Saint-Pierre in Alma. Quebec, was the first school 1o
duced a Research Fell()wships i’rogram for embark on Alcan’s program, Working for a Better Tomorrow.
masters or doctoral level students at selected Armang other siivities: stUdents cecycle paper inlo Gresting

universities in Canada. cards and collect and sell aluminum cans.

Ceerprorate Socral Responsibdity
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The Alcan Group's® Businesses at a Glance
(Asat February 11, 1999)

Europe and Pacific

United Igirlg;ggm

Germany

France

Switzerland

Spain

Italy

Guinea

Ghana

China

India

Thaitand

Malaysia

Australia

North and South America

D0a 0@ Canada

alo®e United States

whe Jamaica

w UA_G ©e® Brazil
7 W Bauxite Mining/Reserves

B Alumina Refining

O Specialty Chemicals

& Primary Aluminum Smelting

& Super Purity Aluminum Refining

G Recycling/Secondary Smelting/
Used Beverage Can (UBC) Recovery

@ Sheet and/or Foil Rolling

® Other Fabricating

Alcan also has salesiarketing offices. research
and techuclogy faciliies or other actiesties i
Austria, Belgren, Bermda, Denmark, Finland.,
Hiangary, fapan, Korea, Poland, Portugal,
Russia, Sweden and The Netherlands.

“Includes subsiddiaries, jomt vontres and related companies and reflects
the sale of altnina refiring operations in breland and Guinea and
af @ chenneals operation in Canada as well as the reducnion of the
fterest beld m Nipponr f,:gb.’ Meral Copmrpany, Lt (NLAM) in fapon,
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Between four-to-five tonnes of
bauxite are needed 10 produce
apout two tonnes of alumina,
which yield one tonne

of aluminum

Primary aluminuin s produced
through the electrolytic reduction
of alumina {(smelting process

Fabricated products are rolled
products (sheet and foil) as well
re and cable, extruded
and wn preducts and castings
The principal end-use markets ’

are Containers and Packaqung,
ransportation, Electrnical, and
ulding and Construction

As ar Febraary 11,1999

\Fabricated Products

OPERATIONS®

® 10 bauxite mines/reserves

lumina and Chemicals

1998 HIGHLIGHTS

« 11.3 Mt used.

+ $29 million in bauxite third-
party sales.

in 6 countries with 400 Mt
of demonstrated reserves.

» 9 aluinina plants in 6 coun- + 5.0 Mt produced.

* 6 specialty chemicals plants

tries with 3.7 Mt of annual

h + $288 million in alumina
capacity.

third-party sales.

» $184 million in sales.
in 3 countries.

b addetrons ber the sales of bawxate, aliwmna and specabiy cheoneals indvated
afrore. Alean’s wore-alwempion prodicts aecoant for 8207 ardion s sales,

OPERATIONS™

« 16 smelters in 5 countries

OPERATIONS’

+ Rolled Products

+ Other Fabricated Products

« Total Fabricated Products

kPrimary Metal

1998 HIGHLIGHTS

= 1.5 Mt of ingot produced.
with 1.7 Mt of annual

! « 648 kt of ingot purchased.
capacity.

« $1.0 billion (648 kt} in
ingot sales.'

1998 HIGHLIGHTS

» 4.2 billion {1,604 kt)
in sales."

= 44 kt of fabricated products
Over 50 manufacturing purchased.
plants in 13 countries and

X « $5.3 billion in sales.*!
2.5 Mt of annual capacity.

+ 2.1 Mt of aluminum

fabricated in Alcan facilities.

« 684 kt produced.
= 535 kt of scrap purchased.

* $142 miltlion (96 kt) in
ingot sales,

« $101 million (85 kt) in
scrap sales,

« Secondary/Recycled
Aluminum
9 recycling plants in 6 coun-
tries with 752 kt of annual
capacty.

Foo Mean Gronpe's Buspressos ar o Glange
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e $1.1 billion {219 k1) in sales.

STRATEGY AND
1998 ACHIEVEMENTS

Opurmize Alcan’s a
bauxite gsset base,
[NO‘.‘IdIf‘.g low-cost alumina

to the pnimary metal business

Jming and

while

® Acquired majonty control of
Ghana Bauxite Cormp,
Limted i Alrica

Agreement on saie of aunnna
refining operations in ireland
and it Guitwea, as well as a chem-
icals business unit in Quebec

Achieved production records in
all core refinenes

Acquired a 20% equity parlicipa-
tan in the Utkal alumina praject
nindia

STRATEGY AND

Be the best producer of low-cos!
ptimmary dlurmimum in the world

« Concluded an 18-year agree-
ment for operational stability
with Quebec unionized
employees

Construction of the 375-kly
elter in Alma, Quebec, pro-
ceeding on tme and on budget

SIT

Six smelters achieved record
volume oroduction

STRATEGY AND
1998 ACHIEVEMENTS

products in our chosen market
through long-term customer
partnerships and low-cost manu-
factunng excellence

® Concluded a 10-year preferred
supply agreement with General
Motors

® Realigned our interests in the
AsiafPaciiic region. Obtained
majority interest in Indian Aly-
minium Company, Limited and
divested part of stake in Nippon
Light Metal Campany, Ltd

# ilegotiated the sale of piston
business in Nurnberg, Germany

s Increased North American sheet
sales from existing facilities by

13%, recording market share

gain in major segments



b also ielicdes parchased mgot.

T exeluding fabrication of castemer-naened metal.

Ciraup's Brsimes d Celinee




Management’s Discussion and Analysis

In a tough external environment, Alcan continues to improve its
profitability. Despite metal prices 15% lower, Economic Value Added
(EVA®)* was unchanged in 1998.

— Western World Primary
l\A[tmrimzm Supply and Demand

0 == Production
plus imports
fram C.LS.

== Shipments
{seasonally
adjusted)

f

1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

| From peak levels at the end of 1997, demand eased
\ throughosut 1998, Supply declined during the first
 half due to weather and technical problems before
% increasing late in the year.

Total Aluminum Inventories

| b

\ and Ingot Prices

M | | Uss/
b 25007
a5 | 00
i 1,000

i
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998
Reported inventories declined in the first balf
* EVA is a registered trademark of and then rebounded. Prices continued to decline

Stern Stewart & Co. | throughout the year.
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three-month
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World Market Review
Primary Aluminum

Consumption of aluminum in the Western
World® fell 1.1% in 1998 as Asia’s financial
difficulties worsened and spread to the rest
of the world, This was the first decline in
demand for aluminum since 1982, The Asian
downturn spread to the United States and
Europe where the rate of growth slowed
towards the end of the year. Latin America
remained the strongest market, with consump-
tion up 4.9%, but this was far below the
16.7% increase in 1997. Growth rates for
both North America and Europe declined by
more than half in 1998, to 3.09% and 3.1%,
respectively, Aluminum consumption in Asia
dropped by 11.6%, after a small gain of 0.7%
in 1997, In sum, Western World aluminum
demand for 1998 rotalled 25.4 Mt of which
demand for primary metal was 18.8 Mt.

Primary aluminum production in the
Western World increased 2.3% in 1998

to 16.4 Mt as brownfield and greenfield
capacity came on-stream and some idle
capacity was restarted. During the vear,
about 400 thousand tonnes (kt) of capaciry
was unutilized because of labour, technical
and weather problems. Of this, 300 kt

is expected to return to production in 1999,
Voluntarily idled capacity accounted for
another 700 ke.

Exports of primary aluminum from the C.L.S.

to the West toralled 2.7 Mr, an increase of
some 2% over 1997, Chinese primary pro-
duction is cstimated ar 2.38 Mt, an increase

* Defined as the world excluding the Comnronuwealtl of

Iedependent States (C1S.), Eastern Furope and China,

of 16% over 1997, which, with lower GDP
growth, has eliminated the net impores into
China from the West.

Supply of primary aluminum increased by
2.1% so, with the decline in demand of 1.1%,
the market went mto surplus. Inventories in
the hands of primary aluminum producers and
in London Meral Exchange (LME) warchouses
were little changed ar 3.7 M, equivalent o
about 10,3 weeks of consumption. However,
total inventories, including unreported stocks
are estimated to have increased some 325 ke
during 1998 and, assuming only a modest
recovery in demand, are expected to build

up further in 1999,

Ingot prices declined during most of 1998,
closing the year near the low poinec at an LME
three-month price of $1,244/t. The average
price for the vear was $1,37%, 15% lower
than the average of $1,620/t in 1997,

Western World Consumption Versus
Alcan Sales

It is csumated that total Western World alu-
minum consumption in 1998 was 25.4 My,
three-quarters of which was supplied from
primary sources and the remainder from
recycled metal. This decrease of 1.1% from
the previous year follows an increase of
5.4% in 1997.

Alean’s total shipments increased 4% 1o
2.9 Mt. Ingot shipments fell 3.4%, while
fabricated products shipments rose 7.2%
reflecting the achievemenr of increased
market share in a number of key segments.
The increased shipments largely offser the
metal price decline, resulting in revenues
being unchanged art $7.8 billion.

Mamaeenients Dusonwssion and Anafvsie

F998 Wesiern
Weordd Neonnnon
Caomsternpption by
e Use Market

125.4 nullion tonnes)

B 277 Transporiation

& 9% Buldorg and
construction

® Y% Comdiners
and packaging
» Y% bRlecrrical

B 26" Other
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Strategic alliances
and long-term supply
partnerships build
a strong future at
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The largest market for aluminum, namely
transportarion, grew by only 0.4% to 6.9 Mt
following growth of 8.5% the previous year.
In the United States, aluminum consumed

in the ransportadion sector grew by 4.9% o
3.1 Mt despite a strike by workers at General
Motors Corporation that hurt light vehicle
production, bur this was offset by a 10%
decline in Japan as vehicle producrion declined,
Alcan’s revenues from this market increased
some 10% in 1998 and accounted for 9%
of its revenue.,

The containers and packaging marker heid
steady at the 1997 level 1o consume 4.8 Mt
of aluminum. It accounted for 437% of
Alean’s revenues. Industry can sheet ship-
ments rose 1.3% to 3.4 M, with a large
[5.4% rise in Brazil, despite the country’s
cconomic difficulries. The can sheet marker
in the United Stares contimued its growth,
increasing by 1.5% to 1,849 ke, Alean’s
revenues from containers and packaging
worldwide increased about §9% led by an
increased share of the substantial North
American can sheer marker.

Mamaiement’s Discassion snd Aotadysn

Photo: Hvdro-Cuebee

Building and construction suffered a 5.2%
fall, 1o 4.8 Mt. Growth in the United States
due to strong residenual housing starts was
oftset by major dechines in Asian countries
such as Japan, where housing starts were
down sharply, resulting in a decline in deinand
from construction of 15%. Alcan’s revenues
from this sector increased 10% and accounted
for 17% of the Company’s sales revenue.

Fabricated products shipments

continued to rise in 1998 as
Alcan increased its share of
key markets.

Consumption of aluminum i the clecrri-
cal market rose a modest 0.9% to 2.3 M.
Groweh mcluded a strong 28% rise in Brazil
with increased mvesement in electrical distri-
bution. Alcan’s revenues from this market
were little changed, accounting for 9% of the
Company's total revenue,

Orther markets inchude machinery and equip-
ment, and durable goods. Total aluminum
consumption in these smatler markets fell
approximately 1.5%, Alcan’s revenues in
the “other™ category, which include sales

of alumina and chemicals, were about 7%
lower in 1998, with a strong increase in dis-
tributor shipments in the U.S. offset by lower
prices for alamina. This comprised 20% of
Alcan’s revenue,



LAnalysis of Change in Net bicome
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Tax revaluation

Metal price
Gain on asset sales

1997
Net income ™"

Results of Operations

Alcan reported consolidated ner income for
1998 of $399 million compared 1o $485 mil-
lion in 1997 and $410 million in 1996,

The chart above analvzes the principal com-
ponents of the change in net income between
1997 and 1998, Metal prices were sharply
lower — the average three-month LME price
declined 15% from $1,620/t to $1,379/t and
was 10% below the 1996 level of $1,536/41.
This was offset in large part by continued
increases i fabricated products sales volume
and improved margins due to cost reductions,
inprovement in product mix and the lag

in passing on Jower metal prices.

In terms of Economic Value Added (EVA),
the metal price decline was fully offset —
LEVA for 1998 was the same as 1997
$¢283) million and improved over the 1996
level of $(310) million.

Also included in the 1998 result were a num-
ber of offscrting items totalling a ne afrer-tax
loss of $9 million. Operaring losses and
business rationalizanion costs at Nippon Light
Meral Company, Lrd, {NLM) in Japan of
$53 nullion and restructuring costs elsewhere
of $15 million were incurred. As a resulk of

assets write-down

Aughinish alumina
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special imens
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1998
Het income

the impending sale of the Company’s alunma
refinery in lreland, the book value of that
asset was written down to the level of the
expected sale proceeds, resulting in an afrer-
tax charge of $120 million. These charges
were offser by gains on the sale of shares m
NLM and a chemcals business in Canada of
$ 148 million after taxes, and a gain on ¢ur-
rency revaluaton of deferred income taxes
of $31 million which resulted from the adop-

tion of a new accounting standard.

The 1997 resulr included an extraordmary
gain of $17 million arising [rom the sale of
a portion of a contract 1o supply power to
B.C. Flvdro, net of addinonal write-downs
of remaming Kemano Completion Project
(KCPy assers. In addition, 1997 carnings
mcluded a netafrer-tax gain of $6 million
arising from a favourable tax adjustment
and gain on sale of businesses oftser in part
by contract losses and restructuring at NLM.
Operating losses at NL.M were 37 milhon

in 1997,

Maragerent s s wond st
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For 1996, net income included net after-tax

charges of $23 million relating to restruc-

turing and early retirement of debt, offset by
gains on business disposals and prior-period
tax adjusements.

The Company’s Full Business Porential

program, launched in 1997, continued to
make good progress towards achieving its
goal of a $430 million pre-tax improvement
in profitability compared to the 1996 base,
by the end of 1999, Following improvements
of $160 million in 1997, a turther $140 mil-
lion has been achieved in 1998 for a total

of $300 million at the end of 1998, In the
alumina and chemicals sector, gains of

$80 million have been made through lower

costs and increased production volume.

Primary metal operations have achieved

$20 million through improved smelter effi-
ciencics resulting in increased output. In fab-
ricated products operations, North America
and Europe have achieved improvements of
$220 million in the two-vear period through
higher capacity utilization Icading to lower
unit costs as well as absolute cost reductions
in Europe. Other regions have shown some
slippage amouncing to $20 mitlion due to
adverse economic conditions in Asia and
Brazil. It 1s anticipated that the goals of the

Neanthor of Tonpliyees

40.4 4.7 39.7 |
a0
.’i
e
.
ij

: ,_ﬁﬁ

1994 1585 1996 1997 1998

40.7 40.8

Adpusted Jor busiess acquisitions and disposals

{at year-crd}

Productivity continnes to improve — a 7% increase
in fabricated products shipments and bigher privnary
production was aclercd p: 1998 by fewer people,

Managemens's Docwssion oed Anglveo

current program will be achieved by the end
of 1999 and a further challenging targer of
carnings improvement will be set for the
vears beyond.

Revenues
(millions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Sales and operating revenues 7,789 7,777 7,614
Total aluminum
shipments ¢kt) 2,941 2,828 2,607
Average sales price
realizations (USS/t)
Ingot products 1,558 1,739 1,658
Fabricated products RN 2,993 3,279

Sales and operating revenues, at $7,789 mil-
lion, were slightly above the 1997 level and
2% higher than in 1996, This cssentially
stable level of revenues, 1n the face of lower
metal prices, reflects continued increases

in sales volume and, in 1998, an improved
spread of fabricared producrs prices over the
underlving metal price, This reflects, in part,
the rime-lag in changes in metal prices flow-
ing through to fabricated products prices,

In addition, realizarions are affected by the
translation into U.S, dollars of sales expressed
in European currencies that weakened in
1997 and showed some recovery against

the dollar in 1998.

Orther income, which comprises interest
wcome and other non-operating gains, was
$231 million in 1998 compared to $88 mil-
lion in 1997 and $75 million in 1996. Other
than interest received on surplus cash, the
main items included under this heading were
gains on disposal of assets which, in 1998,
amauanted to 3156 million before taxes,
primarily from the sale of shares in NLM.



Costs and Expenses

Despite progressively higher sales volumes,
cost of sales and operating expenses increased
only 1.2% in 1998 and 1.5% in 1997, This
improvement in unit costs primarily reflects
higher capacity utilization, cost reductions and
the lower cost, in 1998, of purchased meral.

{kt) 1998 1997 1996

Purchases of aluminum
Ingor products 648 732 509
Scrap $35 482 446
__ Fabricarcd products 44 40 43
1,227 1,254 1,003

Other expenses were $219 million compared
to $54 million in 1997 and $88 million in
1996. The 1998 increase results from the
write-down by $143 million before taxes of
the Aughinish alumina refinery in anticipa-
tion of its sale, and from costs associated
with the Company’s Year 2000 software
remediation program.

Interest Costs

Purchases of primary ingot declined in 1998
as mote of the fabricating sector’s requirements
were met by the Company’s own smelters
and increased recveling of scrap.

Depreciation expense increased to $462 mil-
lion from $436 million in the previous vear
and a similar level in 1996 reflecting the
higber levels of capital expenditure in 1997
and 1998,

Selling, administrative and general expenses,
at $448 million, were little changed from

the 1997 level, which was some 5% higher
than 1996. This reversal of the declining
trend of recent vears was due to expenses of
some $36 million in 1998 and $42 million

in 1997 incurred in renewing and updating
information technology systems, These latter
expenses are expected to decline in 1999,

Research and development expenses were
$70 million in 1998, litde changed from 1997
and 1996. Alcan’s R & D activities are closely
aligned with the needs of its core businesses,
principally, raw materials, smelting and rolling.
The Company is continuing to maintain a
strong program for the development of sheet
applications and technology for the auto-
motive industry and is working closely with
a number of automotive companies in this
regard. In addition, epportunities for process
optimization to improve EVA are continuing
to be explored and implemented in all tech-
nology streams.

{miiflions of USS) 1998 1997 1994
Interest expense 92 101 125
Interest capitalized 15 2 —

107 103 12%

Total interest costs
Effecrive average
Interest rate

6.3% 6.9% 7.3%

Total interest rose slightly in 1998 as bor-
rowings increased, with $15 million being
capitalized relating to the Pindamonhangaba
{Pinda) and Alma projects in Brazil and
Quebec, respectively. From its peak of
$267 million in 1992, the Company’s inter-
est costs have now fallen by $160 million
or 60%. This reflects the debt reduction over
that period as well as rhe benefir of lower
interest rates. The pre-tax interest expense
coverage ratio was 6.3 times in 1998 com-
pared to 7.4 times in 1997 and 5.6 times

in 1996,

income Taxes

Income taxes of $210 million for 1998
represent an effective rate of 32%, similar

to 1997, compared to a composite statutory
rate of 40.4%. The difference in the rates

in 1998 is due primarily to investment and
other allowances, reduced rate or tax-cxempt
items and the impact of the accounting change
related to the currency revaluation of deferred
income taxes, partially offset by other
exchange translation items.

Management s Dizcasaom and Anatyses
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Equity Companies

Alcan’s share of losses of cquiry-accounted
companies in 1998 was $48 million compared
to $33 million in 1997 and $10 million in 1996.
Business conditions in Japan continued to
deteriorate and Alcan’s Japanese affiliate,
NLM, recorded further operating and restruc-
turing losses. In the third quarter, Alcan
increased its ownership in Indian Aluminium
Company, Limited (Indal) from 34.6% 1o
54.6% and accordmgly that company is

now consolidated as a subsidiary. During

the fourth quarter, the Company reduced its
ownership in NL.M from 45.6% to 11.2%
and the investment in NLM is now treated
as a portfolio invesunent.

Product Sector Review

The following information is reported by
major product sector, viewing each sector on
a stand-alone basis. Transactions between
sectors are conducted on an arm’s-length basis
and reflece market prices. Thus, profit on all
alumina produced by the Company, whether
sold to third-parties or used in the Company's
smelters, is included in the alumina and
chemicals sector. Similarly, income from prni-
mary metal operations includes profit on
metal produced by the Company, whether
sold to third-parties or used in the Companys
fabricating operations. Income from the fab-
ricated products sector represents only the
fabricating profir from relled products and
downstream businesses. Additional product
sector information is presented in note 23

to the financial statements.

Manaventent's Discussion and Analysis

Alumina and Chemicals Operations

(mniffions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Sales and operating revenues
Third parrics 509 336 529
lntersector 516 520 507
Operating income 113 54
Shipments — third-parties ke
Smelrer-prade alumima 1,641 1,679 1,583
Alumina chemicals 433 399 387

Alumina hvdrate

production (kr) 5,013 4,727

Protits from this sector are little changed
from 1997 and ahead of 1996. Alumina
prices decreased on average by 14% in 1998,
reflecting the decline in metal prices. Alcan
reduced irs alumina production costs per
tonne by 8% compared to 1997, This was
the result of continued improvements to pro-
ductiviry and efficiencies in conjunction with
the Company’s Full Business Potential pro-
gram. Production costs also benefited from
lower market prices for o1l and caustic soda.

Bawxite

Through subsidiaries, joint ventures and
related companies, Alcan has approximately
400 Mt of demonstrated bauxite reserves,
which is more than sufficient to meet jts
needs for the next 30 years. The Company
also has access to additional resources 10
meet 1ts needs bevond this period.

Having reached agreement with Comalco
Limited in February 1998 with regard to inte-
grated mining of Alcan’s Ely bauxite deposit
with Comalco reserves in Australia, progress
was made during 1998 o define the mining
plan for these resources. From the beginning
of 2000, Alcan’s bauxite costs in Australia
will benefit significantly from the economies
of scale resulting from this agreement.

In March 1998, Alcan increased its equity

position in the Ghana Bauxite Company from
45% 10 80%, and is pursuing an initianive to
expand the mining capacity of that company.



Alumina

Alumina hydrate production reached 5.0 Mr
in 1998, a 4% increase over 1997 on a com-
parable basis. For the scecond consecurive year,
hydrate production was the highest level ever
for the Company. Total third-party sales were
unchanged at 2,074 kt.

In May 1998, Alcan acquired a 20% interest
in the proposed Utkal alumina project in
Orissa, [ndia, a further 209 of which is heid
by Alcan’s 54.6%-owned subsidiary, Indal.
The project consists of a one-milhon-tonne
integrated alumina plant and hauxite mine,
with the opportunity to further expand pro-
duction capacity. This project has the porential
to be the lowest cost alumina plant in the
world. The detailed feasibility study, most

of the environmental clearances, licenses

and land acquisitions have been completed.
In February 1999, Alcan increased its direct
interest in rhis project 1o 33%. The Urkal
shareholders® decision regarding commence-
ment of construction Is expected to be made

in late 1999 or early 2000.

In December 1998, Alcan announced a
$105-million medernization program at its
alumina plant in Jonguiére, Quebec. This pro-
ject will be completed over a four-to-five year
period, i conjunction with a major reorga-
nization and substantial reduction in employ -
ment levels, in order to significantly reduce
the facility’s alumina production cost, as

well as improve environmental, health and
safety condirions.

In January 1999, Alcan reached agreement

in principle with Glencore Limited for the
sale of the Aughinish alumina refinery in
Ireland. In antictpation of this sale, the book
value of this asset has been written down to
the expected sale value resulting in a charge
of $120 muillion afrer tax, The sale 15 expected
to be completed by the end of the first quarter
of 1999 and will make a turther coneribution
towards the reduction of the Company’s
overall alumina costs.

Chemicals

Operating results in 1998 were similar to prior
vear results, as continued progress made on
shifting Alcan’s position to specialty alumina
chemicals was offser by reduced profit margins
in Europe, In December 1998, Alcan con-
chuded the sale of Handy Chemicals Limited
tocared in Candiac, Quebec, in accordance
with its strategy to focus on specialey alu-
nina chemicals,

Primary Metal Operations

(mullions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Sales and operating revenues
Third partics 1,304 1,487 1,321
Intersector 1,394 1,486 1,628
Operating income 346 606 523
Shipments (k)
Primary aluminum
Third partics 648 661 592
~ Intersector 904 867 1,017__‘
Primary production {kt) 1,481 1,429 1,407

Opcrating profits from this sector declined
some 43%, 10 reflect the lower average ingm
prices prevailing in 1998 mitigared by lower

alumina costs and the benefir of increased

Managesent's Discussion and Analyaes

An agreement il
Comalco Limited v
achieve economies
of scale in mining the
Ely bauxite reserves
in Australia, adding
substantial value to
Alcan’s strategy for

raw material supply.



Alcan’s smelting and
power strategy moves
into a new phase with
the construction of
the US$1 &-billion,
375.000-tonne capat
ity smelter in Alma,
Quebec, scheduled fo

start-up in late 2000
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production levels. Profits from this sector
arise not only from third-party sales but also
from the sale of mertal at market prices to
the Company’s own fabricaring operations.
Intersector shipments increased in 1998
reflecting higher demand from Alcan’s North
American fabricating operations.

Third-party sales of primary ingort arc nearly
all in added-value forms such as extrusion
biller and foundry ingot. Reduced Asian
demand for ingot products was offset by a
continucd high level of demand from the
North American market, Biller sales and prof-
itability improved with Alcan’s strong market
position supported by casting faclities at four
smelters. Sales of foundry ingot were main-
tained despite the 1998 ice storm affecung
output in Quchec and a strike at General
Motors affecting demand. Increased foundry
ingot casting capacity has been installed at
the Sebree smelter in the U.S. to support
Alcan’s automotive products strategy. The
average realized price on third-party sales

of primary ingot was $1,618/t compared

to $1,803/t i 1997 and $1,721/t in 1996,

Mamavertens s ocwssnom and Analyags

Alcan’s average cost of production of pri-
mary aluminum {mainly in the form of sheet
ingot and extrusion hillet}, includimg alumina
at marker prices, was $1,327/t compared

to $1,352/tin 1997 and $1,328/t in 1996,
The reduction in 1998 was due to lower alu-
mina costs and the benefits to unic costs of
imcreased output.

Printary Production

Primary metal production again increased

in 1998 with improved output from most
smclters offset by the loss of some 7 kr of
production at a Canadian smelter due to

the loss of power following an ice storm in
January 1998, Alcan continucs to have approx-
imately 134 ki/y of production capacity tem-
porarily idled, representing 8% of its capacity.
This capacity will be restarted only when
warranted by indusery conditions. In addition,
some 70 kr of capacity in India are idle due
to non-availability of power.

In February 1998, the Company announced
ity decision ro proceed with construction

of a new 375-kt/y smelter ar Alma, Quebec,
Construction is proceeding according to
plan and the first metal will be produced m
late 2000, In conjuuction with this expansion,
the existing 75-kt/y smelter ar Isle-Maligne,
Quebec will be closed. The Alma smelter will
cmploy stare-of-the-art technology and will
have among the lowest operating costs of
new smelter projecrs in the world roday.

Feasibility studies are under way into poten-
tial smelter projects in British Columbia and
Kentucky as well as a potential joint-venture
project in Shanxi Province, China, These stud-
16§ represent opportunities to grow Alcan’s
low-cost smelting capacity and their comple-
tion will allow the Company to move quickly
when market conditnions are appropriate.



In the UK., the refurbishment of the idle
potline at Lynemourh is complere amd the line
is ready to restart when market conditions
allow. In anticipation of the ¢ventual closure
of the Kinlochleven smelter, planning permis-
sion has been sought to upgrade the power
line from the Kinlochleven power system

to the Lochaher smelter.

Fabricated Products Operations

(millions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Sales and operating revenues 5,963 5,737 3,744
Operating income 310 280 124

Shipments (k)
Fabrication of
__customer-owned metal 289 276 258
Total volume 2,112 1,970 1,797

1,823 1,694 1,539

Alcan’s fabricated products volume, including
fabrication of customer-owned metal, grew
7% 1n 1998 to a record level of 2.1 Mt, fol-
lowing 10% growrh in 1997, Adjusted for
acquisitions and disposals, fabricated prod-
ucts volume has grown 60% in the five years
since 1993, This performance reflects the
achievement of increased market share in the
Company’s chosen market segments.

Rolled Products

1998 1997 1996

Shipments (kt)
Fabrication of
customer-owned metal 289 276 258
Totalvolume 1,893 1,752 1,562
Average pric—e
realizations (USS$/t)

1,604 1,476

een 2,637 2,797

Alcan continues ro consolidate its position
of leadership in rolled products markets in
North and South America and LEurope follow-
ing capacity expansions and modernization
1N recent years.

The decline in the average price realized on
shipments of rolled products was much less
than the decline in the underlying meral price
due 1o the time-lag in metal prices flowing
through to fabricated products prices as

well as to the impact of currency translation.
Realizations on sales denominated in European
currencies declined in dollar rerms in 1997
but increased in 1998 as those currencies
recovered against the dollar.

North American industry aluminum sheet
demand grew an estimated 1.5% in 1998 but
Alcan achieved growth of 13%, recording
market share gains in all major segments and
increased exports. Industry can sheer growreh
was in line with overall sheet demand growth
at an estimated 1.5% increase in 1998 driven
by an increasc in beverage can shipments ot
abour 2.2% to a level of 103 billion cans in
the U.S. Alcan continued 1o increase its share
of this market with shipments up 11.6%.
The Company made further inroads to the
discributor marker with shipments up 12%
in a relacively flat marker. In light gauge
products, volume was up 10%, over twice
the market growth, led by gains in rrans-
portation, packaging and construction.

Alventiion Shippients
and Prureluses

Ingor
prochiects™

tabricated
products™*

Totai
purchascs

Inchedes proomary
and sccarndary mgel
and senap.

Inchedes products
fabricated from
cstanter-oened
metal

1994 1995 1996 1997 1998

The increased reqivrements for mgot by fabricated
products operations was met by Alcan'’s own
primary and recycling facifities resufting in
reduced melal prrchases,

Management's isenssnnnamd Analvare

29



Alezn’s patented
alloys and proprietary
technologies are key
contributors to the
growing acceptance
of aluminum sheet in
automobiles. Working
in close partnership
with the customer, an
Alcan laboratory tech-
nologist at Kingston,
Ontario, simulates a
test for the unifarm:ty
of temperature

distribution on an

aluminum hood
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Following growth of 7% in 1997, the rolled
products market in Western Europe rose by
an estimated 1.5% in 1998, However, market
conditions weakened as the year progressed
with the rolled products market contracting
at a ratc of 2% during the second half-year,
after growth of 3% in the first six months.
Having achicved sales growth of 16% i 1997,
Alcan consolidated its position with ship-
ments almost unchanged from the previous
year, but with improved margins and with

a higher added-value product mix.

In South America, rolled products growth of
9% slowed somewhat from previous vears
and was mixed, with can sheer growing an
estimated 16% but declines for consumer
durable goods, transportation and machimery
markets due to very high real interest rates in
Brazil. A large proportion of Alcan’s shipmenrs
is can sheet and the Pinda mill is the only
rolling null in the region with can sheet produc-
tion capability. This plant 1s being expanded
from 100 kt/y to 280 ki/y with the new capac-
ity scheduled to start coming on stream late
in 1999 to continue supporting the expanding
South American can sheet marker,

Muanagemeni's {seussion and Analyas

Antomotive

The vear 1998 was again one of substantial
progress for the automotive group, with sig-
nificant commercial breakthroughs advancing
Alcan’s leadership in the application of alu-
minum sheet and metal matnix composites.
During the vear, Alcan secured new business
with both General Motors and Ford for the
increascd use of aluminum exterior hody
pancls (closures) on cars and light trucks.
Over the next two years, Alcan will begin

to supply multple major new closure panel
applications 1o the two manufacturers, making
Alcan the leading supplier of aluminum clo-
sures to both compames. Volkswagen selected
DURALCAN brake drums for production
on its new lightweighe, 3.0 liter/ 100 ki
Lupo. The Lupo, weighing in at just 800 kg,
capitalizes on the hghrweighe benefits of
aluminum throughout the vehicle. Praoduction
of this vehicle is now under way. [n addition
to these successes, significant progress was
made toward the prospect of a high-volume
aluminum-intensive vehicle (AIV).

Alcan Global Automornive Products, a new
organization, was created in 1998 to extend
Alcan’s business development appreach into
Europe and other regions 1o ensure the suc-
cess of crnincal customer programs, while
caprturing the valuc of these business oppor-
tunities for Alcan. The strategic alliance
signed with General Motors in November,
along with continued progress with Ford
toward developing lighter, more efficient
vehicles, provides the underpinning for long-
term sustainable marker growth.

Alcan’s reputation as a reliable, quality sup-
plier was also recognized through the achieve-
ment of both the Q5-9000 and Ford Q1
certifications at the Company’s three North
American plants involved in the production
of automotive sheet.



Other Fabricated Products

1998 1997 1996

| Shipments ki)
Average price
realizations (USS/t)

219 218 235

5,292 5445 5946

Sales of other fabricated products were flar in
1998 after having declined over the previous
five years as a result of rhe divestment of non-
strategic downstream businesses, most of
which was completed by 1996. The slight
decline in realizations in 1998 largely reflects
the underlying metal price.

In North America, shipments of Alcan Cable
products increased in 1998, continuing the
positive trend of the past several vears.
Building wire demand continued to grow and
market demand for service cable and transmis-
sion cable was stable in 1998, supporting the
sales volume necded to maintain continuing
excellent profit performance. Alcan Cable
employees in Canada and the U.S, extended
special efforts in earlv 1998 in response

to emergency demand for cable caused by

a severe ice storm that blanketed eastern
Canada and the northeastern United States
in January. Most dramatic was Alcan Cable’s
rapid production and delivery of a special
high strength alloy conductor cable that elec-
tric utility Hydro-Québec desperately needed
to replace steel-reinforced high-voltage lines
brought down by the storm.

In France, conditions in the building systems
market improved, and the overseas business
of Alcan France generally performed well.
However, sales to Sourheast Asia were
affected by the much weaker ecconomies in
that region. In Germany, Alcan reached agree-
ment to sell the piston manufacturing business
during the first quarter of 1999. In Brazil, the
flexible packaging business suffered weak
market demand.

Recveling Activities

Alcan’s aluminum can recycling in North
America increased by 8.2% in 1998 to a new
record, 20.1 billion cans. This represents more
than 30% of all the aluminum beverage cans
recycled by Americans in the year. In Canada,
Alcan collected approximately 2.1 billion cans
in Onuario, Quebec and British Columbia
during 1998. The economic value of the cans
Alcan recycled during the year in North
America totalled nearly $325 million.

Alcan also operates a used beverage can
{UBC} recycling plant in the UK, and, in
early 1998, commissioned a UBC recycling
facility with an ultimate capacity of 80 ke/y
in Brazil, the first of its kind in South America,
supporting growth of the beverage can
market in those regions.

Alcan’s leadership in automotive

sheet and metal matrix composites
is evidenced by a strategic alliance

with General Motors.

In addition to its UBC recvcling facilities,
Alean recycles other forms of aluminum scrap
at four facilities in India, Italy, Thailand and
the UK. with a toral capacity of 181 ki/v.
Third-party sales totalled 96 kt compared to
82 ke in 1997 and 119 kt in 1996. Late in 1996,
the Company sold its facility in Guelph,
Ontarto, and, in the first quarter of 1999, sold
its plant in Shelbyville, Tennessee. These steps
reflect the decision to concentrate secondary
production on supplying sheet ingot 10 the
Company's own fabricating operations and
supporting the fabricared products marker
with a recycling infrastructure.

Maragerrent's Descussron and Analvsrs
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Geographic Revieuw

The economic downrturn in Japan and the
rest of Asia fele in late 1997 accelerated into
1998 and, because of the impact on global
demand and prices, adversely affected results
in all regions.

Net income data included in this Geographic
Review relate to Alcan’s operations in cach
region, wheteas the shipment data are classified
according to third-party customer location.

Canada
(millions of USS) 1998 1997 199¢
Net income* 133 245 175
Net income excluding
special items® 103 219 188
Shipments (k)
Ingot products 110 101 2
Fabricated products 115 110 120

& Net jncome in 1997 is before extraordmary gain.
Special items include: 1998 currency revaluation of
deferred income paxes and gain on sale of a busmess,
1997 prior year tax adjustments, 1996 rationalizntion
cxpenses and loss on early retiresent of debt,

Earnings from Canadian operations, prin-
cipally primary metal and alumina, declined
in 1998 due to lower aluminum ingot prices
more than reversing the improvement in 1997.

1998 Numhnon
Nbments by Regian
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I Alcan is ome of the most international alwmpnon
companies serving ctestonters in all major regions
| of the warld.
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The Canadian economy experienced slower
growth with the impacr of reduced exports
to Asia. Alcan’s shipments to customers in
Canada increased some 7% to 225 kt.

The 375-kd/y Alma smelter project in Quebec
received its go-ahead early in 1998, and con-
struction is underway. In the fourth quarter,
Handy Chemicals was sold in accordance
with the Company’s straregy of concentrat-
ing its chemicals acrivities on specialty alu-
mina chemicals.

United States

(millions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Net income 144 136 70
Net income excluding

special items” 144 136 72
Shipments ¢ke)**

Ingot products 388 379 380

Fabricated products 1,016 905 874

8 Special items comprise loss on sale of busimess and
tax rwrite-backs in 1996,
= tuchiedes fabirication of customer-otoned metal.

The increase in ULS, net income reflects con-
tinued improvements in profitability of the
fabricated products business partly offset,

in 1998, by reduced earnings from the U.S.
smelter operations due to lower metal prices.

The U.S. economy remained robust but with
some slowing of the growth rate towards

the end of the year. Aluminum consumption
rose 2.8% after a high, 6.7%, growth rate

in 1997. Strong housing activity and trans-
portation markets as well as continuing growth
in the can market were the main factors.

Despite the slowing in the U.S. growth rate,
Alcan’s fabricated products operations experi-
enced an excellent year and are achieving
good order levels going into 1999,




South America

tmullions of USS) 1998 1997 1994
Net income 13 27 42
Net income excluding
_ special items® 13 17 29
Shipments ¢he)
Ingot products 26 27 21
Fabricated products 162 146 153

“Special items incliede 1997 and 1996 gan on sale of
businesses.

Operating results in 1998 were affected by the
impact of lower metal prices on raw materials
and smelting operations. The decline in 1997
was largely due to the divestment of non-core
downstream operations.

In Brazil, the imposition of very high interest
rates in defence of the currency pushed the
economy into recession in the fourth quarter,
Cars, trucks and consumer durable goods pro-
duction declined sharply. Despite weakness
in these sectors, aluminum consumption grew
some 5% with increased demand from the
electrical distribution and beverage can mar-
kets. The outlook for 1999 is uncertain after
the devaluation of the Real in January 1999.
It is expected that the first quarter will be
difficult with a substantial reduction in GDP.

The Pinda rolling mill expansion is proceeding
well — on time, on budget and with over

5 million construction hours worked without
a lost-time accident. The expansion is sched-
uled to start coming on stream in the second
half of 1999,

Europe

Overall GDP growth in the European Umon
{EU) 15 countries continued at just under 3%
in 1998, a similar rate to the previous year,
The economies of Germany and France
experienced slightly higher growth, whereas
Italy’s growth was unchanged, and the UK.
economy began to slow down.

QOperating profits and net income from the
European fabricating businesses showed a
significant increase in 1998, partly due to the
effect of the improved conversion margins,
but mostly due o the benefits of the cost
reduction program underway across Europe.
Employee numbers in Europe were reduced
by some 550, or 5%, during the year and
restructuring charges of $19 million before
tax were made as Alcan Furope took steps
to move towards its full business potential.
In 1998, however, this improvement was
offset hy reduced earnings from alumina and
primary metal operations.

Gerprany

{miflions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Net income 7 — 2%)
Ner income exciuding

special items* 10 — (20)
Shipments kr)** ' )

Ingot products 1% 10

Fabricated products 180 183 151

* Special wrems include 1998 and 1996 rationaliza-
Han costs.
** Includes fabrication of custormer-oioned metal,

Alcan’s fabricating operations in Germany
turned profitable in 1998 bur continued to
be EVA-negative. Further improvements arc
expected in 1999, based on actions taken
in 1998 and to be taken in 1999.
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Indian Aluminium
Company, Limited,
now a fully consol-
idated subsidiary,
manufactures a range
of products such as<
the high-value rollec
producls atl the Bejur
sheet mll in West
Bengal, India. all

the way acrass the

spectrum to specialty

2lumina chemicals
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United Kingdaowr

(millions of USS) 1998 1997 1996

Ner income 2 22 51
Net income excluding

__specialitems® 8 22 49
Shipments (k#}**
Ingot products 25 25 16
Fabricated products 151 152 14]

o speceal toms mclude 1998 rationalization costs,
1996 tax write-backs.
" bechudes fabricanon of customer-orened metal.

Fabricatng operations in the UK. were
affected by the competitive umpact of the
strength of the pound sterling against cooti-
nental currencies and by the slowing UK,
cconomy. In addition, primary metal oper-
ations suttered a decline in profitability due
to lower metal prices,

Other Europe

(millions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Nert income (98) 33 (5
Net income excluding
| special items” 33 (3)
Shipments (ke)**
Ingot products 64 71 65
Fabricated products 366 391 338

Specral tems incliude 1998 werie-dorein of assets and
raticnalization costs, 1996 rationaiizalion costs,
Ineledes fabrication of custemer-oteied metal,

Matagenront s Discuwssaor and Anafvaie

Improved fabricared products earnings were
offset by the impact of lower alumina prices
on the raw marerials operations. Included

in the reported carnings for the year is a
$120 nullion after-tax write-down of the
Aughinish alumina refinery in anricipation
of its sale carly in 1999,

Asia and Pacific

{mitlions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Ner income 117 (1) 13
Net income excluding
_ special items* 8 29 25
Shipments (k)
Ingot products 196 245 199
Fabricated products 119 76 13

® Spectal trems mchude: 1998 gam om sale of NLM shares,
19U and 1997 comstricctions contract losses and ratso-
nalization expenses and 1996 rationalization expenses.

Income, excluding special items, from this
region deteriorated further in 1998 as the weak
Japanese cconomy resulted i increased operat-
ing losses from the Company’s affiliate, NLM.
In the fourth quarter, in line with the strategy
of concentrating on upstream and large-scale
fabricating operations, Alcan sold shares

in NLM reducing its holding to 11.2% and
realizing net cash proceeds of $193 million
and an after-tax gain of $140 million. This
company is now accounted for as a portfolio
mvestment and is no longer equity-accounted.

b July 1998, Alcan acquired a further 20%
ol the shares of Indal for $70 million bring-
ing irs toral stake to 54.6%. Accordingly,
Indal has been consolidated as a subsidiary
from that date. Despite slower economic
growth in India, Indal improved irs prof-
itability by some 50%.



The economic ¢risis, which gripped Southcast
Asia in the latter half of 1997, worsened during
1998, plunging most countries in the region
into their first recession in over a decade.
Alcan’s exports of ingot products to the region
declined hy 20%. For fabricated products, the
construction and automotive markets, which
are important to Alcan’s businesses, werc
especially hard hit, leading to a sharp decline
in shipments into these markers.

Alcan’s businesses in Thailand and Malaysia
responded with aggressive cost reduction and
productivity improvement, rigorous manage-
ment of working capital and the development
of export opportunities. While profitability
declined, cash generation was positive and
substantially higher than in 1997, With busi-
ness conditions expected to remain difficulr,
all companies will he accelerating their efforts
to strengthen their competitive position in

the vear ahead.

In Australia, carnings from raw materials oper-
ations declined due to lower alumina pricces.

Other Areas

(nillions of USS) 1998 1997 1996
Net income 39 35 31
Net income excluding

special irems* g 35 35
Shipments (kt)

Ingor products — — 1

Fabricated products 3 7 7

* Special items incliude 1998 loss on sale of business,
1996 rationalization expenses.

Activities in other areas include raw materials
operations in Jamaica, Guinea and Ghana,
and trading, shipping and insurance activities
in Bermuda. Alcan also sells its products in
other parts of the world such as the Middle
East and Africa.

Ligquidity and Capital
Resources

Operating Activities

Cash generation in 1998 was close 1o 1997,
despite the lower net income. Calculated by
taking net income for the year and adding
back depreciation and deferred income taxes,
cash generation was $890 million compared

to $913 million in 1997 and $856 million
in 1996,

Nct operating working capital requirements
increased by $106 million in 1998 and by
$125 million in 1997 due in part to higher
fabricated products sales volumes. Inventories
increased at the end of 1998 reflecting lower
than expected shipments at the end of the
vear in Europe and realignment of sheet ingot
work-in-progress in North America.

Cash Hows

-
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The capital investment program was largely funded
by cash generated from operations and business
disposals with a small increase i debt levels

in 1998,
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With can sheet
consumption in South
America growing by
about 20% per year
since 1996, Alcan’s
new recycling facility
at Pindamonhangaba,
Brazil, completes the
arcle of domestic
production, consump
tion and recycling of

aluminum ¢ans

» Total
borrowmys

B Faguiry
(neludes mmaray

nterests and
preference sharesi

= Ratio of tolal
borrowings
1o equanty

36

Investment Activities

Capital investment in the vear was $877 mil-
lion, an increase from the previous two years,
which were $641 million and $482 million
respectively. On an ongoing basis approxi-
mately $450 million is required annually to
maintain the integrity and comperitiveness
of the Company’s assets. Additional mvest-
ment during 1998 principally comprised the
expansion of rolling capacity in Brazil, wunitial
expenditure on the Alma smelter project in
Quebee and the acquisition of a controlling
interest in Indal, India,

Total Borroteings and Fguity
oLt Nedr-cnd)
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Alcaw’s borrotemgs-to-equity ratio remains at a
healthy level, Adjusted for surplus cash, the ratio
frecomes 18:82,
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[0 1999, total investment is anticipated to
be approximately $1.2 billion including,
in addition to projects to maintain existing
assets, the Alma smelter construction and
the conclusion of the Pinda rolling mll
expansion in Brazil.

Disposal proceeds from the sale of non-
strategic businesses were $221 million

in 1998, compared to $34 million in 1997
and $660 million in 1996,

Disposal of assets in 1998 comprised the sale
of shares in NLLM, Japan, and the sale of
Handy Chemicals in Quebec. In addition, the
divestment of a reeveling facility in Shelbyville,
Tennessce, was completed in the first quarter
of 1999, and the sale of the Aughinish alu-
mina refinery in Ireland and a piston manu-
facturing business in Nurnberg, Germany, are
under way.

Financing Activities

Total borrowings at the end of 1998 were
$1.8 billion, which was $274 million above
the 1997 level. Alcan’s debt-to-equity ratio
rose slightly 1o 24:76 compared to 23:77 at
the end of 1997, which was the lowest level
in decades. Net of surplus cash, the 1998
ratio was 18:82,

The quarterly cormunon share dividend
remained at 15 cents per share in 1998, Toral
dividends paid to common sharcholders were
$136 million, the same as in 1996 and 1997,
Dividends to preference shareholders were
$10 million in both 1998 and 1997 com-
pared to $16 million in 1996.

[n March ot 1998, Alcan redecmed $43 mil-
lion of its Series D preference shares. These
shares were relatively high cost financing

in the current interest rate environment. [n
addition, in Seprember, the Company ook
advantage of historically low long-term
interest rates to issue debentures totalling
$300 million — $200 million 6.25% dcben-
tures due 2008 and $100 million 7.25%
debentures due 2028,



In September 1998, Alcan announced a com-

mon share repurchase program for up to

22.7 million common shares over a 12-month
period. During the fourth quarter, Alcan pur-
chased 1.73 million common shares. Purchases
under this program may be made until Septem-
ber 28, 1999, at the Company's discretion.

Cash reserves toralled $615 million at the
end of 1998 compared to $608 million and
$546 million ar the ends of 1997 and 1996
respectively. The Company continues to have
a $1-billion global, multi-year and mulu-
currency credit facility with a syndicate of
major international banks. At December 31,
1998, no funds had been borrowed under this
facility and the full amount continues to be
available. The Company’s investment grade
rating also provides Alcan with access to
global capital markets through the issuance
of debt and equity instruments.

The Company expects that cash generated
from operartions, combined with the above
resources, will be more than sufficient to
meet the cash requirements of operations,
planned capital expenditures and dividends.
In addition, ready access to capital markets
should provide adequate liguidity to mect
unforeseen events.

Environmental Matters

Alcan is committed to the continued environ-
mental improvement of its operations and
products. The Company has devoted, and
will continue to devorte, significant resources
to control air and water pollutants, to dis-
pose of wastes and to remediate sites of past
waste disposal. Alcan estimates that annual
enviconment-related spending, both capital
and expense, will average about $190 million
per year over the next several vears and s
not expected to have a material eftecr on its
competitive position. While the Company
does not anticipate a material increase in the
projected level of such expenditures, there is
always a possibiliry thar such increases may
occur in the furure i view of the uncertainties
associated with environmental exposures,
including new informartion concerning sites

with idencitied environmental habilities
and changes in faws and regulations and
their application.

Included in total operating costs and expenses
for the year are amounts for safeguarding
the environment and improving working
conditions in plants. In 1998, such expenses
totalled $91 million., This amount was largely
for costs associated with reducing air emis-
sions and mitigating che impact of wasie
and by-products. In 1996 and 1997, these
expenses totalled $96 million and $88 mil-
lion, respectively,

Included in capital spending in 1998 was
$71 million for environment-related projects.
Such spending was largely on equipment
designed 1o reduce or contain air emissions
generated by Alcan plants. Spending in 1996
and 1997 was $60 million and $84 million,
respectively.

Risks and Uncertainties
Risk Management

As a multinational company engaged in a
commodity-related business, Alcan’s financial
performance is heavily influenced by fluctu-
ations in metal prices and cxchange rates,

In order to reduce the associared risks, the
Company uses a variety of financial instru-
ments and commodity contracts. All risk
management activities are governed by clearly
defined policies and management controls.
Transactions i timancial mstruments for which
there s no underlving exposure are prohibited.

The decision whether and when to commence
a hedge, along with the duration of the hedge,
can vary from period 1o period depending on
market conditions and the relative costs of
various hedging imstruments. The duration of
a hedge 1s always linked 1o the timing of the
underlying transaction, with the connection
between the two being constantly monitored.

Manggeneent s Descasaron and Wabvass
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Foreign Currency FExchanee

Exchange rate movements, particularly
between the Canadian dollar and U.S. dollar,
have an important impact on Alcan’s results.
For example, on an annual basis, each
1i$$0.01 permanent change in the value

of the Canadian dollar has an after-tax
impact of approximately $11 million on the
Company’s long-term profitability. Alcan
benefits from a weakening in the Canadian
dollar, but, conversely, is disadvantaged if
it strengthens. In order to reduce the short-
term volatility in costs arising from move-
ments in exchange rates, Alcan hedges a
substantial portion of its Canadian dollar
exposure through the usc of forward
exchange contracts and currency options.

For further derails; refer to note 17 of the
financial statements,

From the beginning of 1998, following

a change to the accounting standards of the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants
on accounting for income taxes, the Company’s
deferred income tax liability 1s translaced into
Li.5. dollars at current rates. The resultant
exchange gains or logses are included in
income. The impact of a US$0.01 movement
in the value of the Canadian dollar on deferred
income taxes is approximately $6 million.
During 1998, a gain of $31 million was
recorded in this regard.

Vit Prices

Depending on market conditions and logis-
tical considerations, Alcan may sell primary
aluminum to third parties and may purchase
primary alummum and secondary aluminum,
including scrap, on the open marker to meet
the requirements of its fabricating businesses.
In addition, depending on pricing arrange-
ments with fabricated products customers,
Alcan may hedge some of its purchased mertal
supply in support of those sales.

Munagcmtent > Discasstonn and Analvsies

Through the use of forward purchase and
sale contracts and options, Alcan seeks to
limit the impact of lower metal prices, while
retaining the ability to benefit from higher
prices. The Company may also, through a
combination of hedging instruments, estab-
lish a range of sales prices tor a certain
portion of its future revenues.

Alcan estimates that on an annual basis,
each $100 per tonne change in the price of
aluminum has an after-tax impact of approx-
imately $100 million on the Company’s
long-term profitability,

For further details, refer to note 17 of the
financial statements.

The Year 2000 Issue

Alcan is addressing the Year 2000 issue
through a formal program (the Project)
designed with the assistance of outside
consultants. Products made and sold by
Alcan do not contain date-sensitive software
or electronic components. The Project is
theretore focused on evaluation and reme-
diation of systems hardware and related
software used in business applications,
process controls and instrumentation used
in the manufacruring process, and on risks
associated with suppliers and other third-
parties not being Year 2000 compliant.

Remediation of all critical systems was
approximately 90% complete at the targer
date of December 31, 1998, Although minor
slippage has occurred, Alcan expects to com-
plete remediation of the remaining critical
systems in a timely manner and this is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on
Alcan’s Year 2000 preparedness. Remediation
means an item has been repaired or replaced
and has been unirt tested or otherwise demon-
strated to be compliant.

Other key project phases are generally on
targer with Alcan’s milestone dates. Testing is
expected to be substantially complete by the
end of the second quarter of 1999. All critical
systems arc being evaluated for full integra-
tion testing; howcever, integration testing will
not necessarily be undertaken for all systems.



Alcan is dependent upon a number of third
parties including utiliries and raw material
suppliers. Alternative suppliers are not avail-
able in all cases. Alcan operates or controls,
through direct ownership or joint ventures,
the supply of a majority of its requirements
for bauxite and alumima. This will assist
Alcan in assessing and managing risk with
respect to these key raw materials. Addition-
ally, Alcan generates its own power for its
core North American smeleer facilities which
will enable Alcan to deal directly wirh those
power supply risks.

Contingency planning and business continu-
ity planning will receive increased attention
over the next several mouths. Contingency
planning includes examining options for
minimizing impact where rhird-party supplies
are interrupted, the availability of alternarive
electrical power from third-party sources and
examining how dual source encrgy options,
available at several key fabricating facilities,
can best be urilized. As systems testing and
integration testing advances, Alcan will
evaluate most reasonably likely worst case
scenarios. These will also become clearer in
relation to third-party dependencies as the
position of key suppliers becomes better
known. Detailed husiness continuity plans
will then be developed in light of the results
of these reviews.

Alcan believes that the Project continues to
reduce significantly the possibility of material
interruptions in normal operations, Third-
party failures or unexpected impediments to
timely completion of Year 2000 remediation
could result in business interruptions or delays
that could have a material adverse effect on
Alcan’s business and financial condition.

Costs of repair and replacement of systems
at Alcan facilities are expensed as incurred
and are estimated at $50 million, Costs to
the end of 1998 were $23 million. Anv addi-
tional costs for testing, implementation and
contingency planning are not expected to
have a material adverse effect on Alcan’s
liquidity, results or financial condition.

Aboriginal Issues

In April 1998, the 100-member Cheslatta
Nation Indian Band filed suit against Alcan,
Canada and British Columbia (B.C.) sceking
a declaration that they be entitled to the
exclusive occupancy or possession of certain
claumed lands, ro damages and o other
relief, relying on the deciston of the Supreme
Court of Canada in the Delgamunkie case.
Alcan obrained its title to certain land in
the claimed territory under valid grants
from rhe Government of Canada upon due
payment. Alcan filed its statement of defence
in October 1998, The day-to-day operations
of Alcan’s facilities will not be impeded.
Alcan believes thar this claim is without
merit and will not succeed in court.

In March 1998, the Haisla Nation wrote
to Alean, Canada and B.C. asserting that
Alcan’s lands in Kitimat and Kemano are
subject to their aboriginal tidte, also appar-
ently relying on the Defganiukie case.

Cautionary Statement

Statements in this report that describe the
Company’s objectives, projections, estimares,
expectattons or predictions may he “forward
looking statements™ within the meaning of
applicable securities laws and regulations,
The Company cautions that such statements
involve risk and uncertainty and that actual
results could differ materially from those
expressed or implied. lmportant factors

that could cause differences include global
aluminum supply and demand condttions,
aluminum ingot prices and other raw mate-
rials” costs or availability, cvclical demand
and pricing in the Company’s principal mar-
kets, changes in government regulations,
economic developments within the countries
tn which the Company conducts business,
and other factors relating to the Company’s
operations, such as lingaton, labour nego-
tiations and fiscal regimes,

Moageemen? s Discnssooor ol Analy s
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Responsibility for the Annual Report

Alcan’s management is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial starements
and other mformation in the Annual Repore. The financial starcments have heen prepared ny accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Canada and include, where appropriate, estimates based on the best
judgement of management. They conform in all material respects with accounting principles established by the
International Accounting Standards Committee. A reconciliation with accounting principles generally aceepted
in the United States is also presented. Financial and operating data elsewhere in the Annual Report are con-
sistent with that contained 1 the accompanying financial statements.

Alean’s policy is to maimtain systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of high quality con-
sistent with reasonable cost. Such syscems are desipned 1o provide reasonable assurance that che financial
information is accurace and reliable and that Company assets are adequarely accounted for and sateguarded.
The Board of Directors oversees the Company's svstems of inrernal accounring and administrarive conrrols
through its Audic Committee, which is comprised of dircetors who are nor employees. The Audit Commiteee
meets regularly with representatives of the shareholders” independent auditors and management, including
internal audit statf, o satisfy themselves thar Alcan’s policy is being followed.

The Audit Committee has recommended the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the independent
auditors, subject to approval by the sharcholders,

The financial statements have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and, rogether with the other required
information in this Annual Reporr, approved by the Board of Directors, In addition, the financial starements
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, whose report is provided below.

Jacques Bougie, Chief Executive Officer Suresh Thadhani, Chief Financial Officer
February 11, 1999

OECD Guidelines

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OFECD), which consises of 24 industrialized
countries including Canada, has established guidelines setting out an acceprable framework of reciprocal rights
and responsibilities berween multinanonal enterprises and host govermnents,

Alcan supports and complies with the OECD guidelines, and the Company's own statement, Alcan, fts Purpose,
Objectives and Policies, is consistent with them. This statement, first published in 1978, has been distribured

in 1 fanguages to Alcan employees worldwide to screngthen the awareness of the basic principles and policies
which have guided the conduct of Alcans business over the vears,

The statement of Alean’s purpose, objectives and policies, the Company’s annual information form and its 10-K
report are all available ro sharcholders on request, The latter two documents contain a complete list of signifi-
cant Alean Group companies workdwide.

Auditors' Report
To the Sharcholders of Alcan Aluminium Limited

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Alcan Alumemum Limired as at December 31, 1998, 1997
and 1996 and the consolidated statements of income, retained carnings and cash flows for cach of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 1998, These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility 15 to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audies in accordance with generally accepred auditing standards. Those standards require thar
we plan and perform an audit 1o obrain reasonahble assurance whether the financial statements are free of mate-
riad misstatement, An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audiv also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signiticant esti-
mates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

Ly our opinion, these consolidated financial statements presene fairly, inoall material respects, the financial posi-
tion of the Company as at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 and the resulis of its operavons and its cash
flows for cach of the years in the three-vear period ended December 31, 1998 in accordance with Canadian
penerally aceepred accounting principles.

?ELAbuHQCJ&mMLCQWuao LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP February 11, 1999

Chartered Acconntants Montreal, Canada

Afcan Aanaron D nngted



Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Income
{in millions of USS, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31 1998

1997

1996

Revenues
Sales and operarting revenucs $7,789 $7.777 §7.614
~Other income (note 10) 231 88 75
- 8,020 7,865 7.689
Costs and expenses
Cost of sales and operating expenses 6,076 6,005 5,919
Depreciation (nore 2/ 462 436 431
Selling, administrative and gencral expenses 448 444 422
Research and development expenses 70 72 74
Interest 92 101 125
| Other expenses (rote 9) 219 54 88
) ' 7,367 7,112 7,056
Income before income taxes and other items 653 753 633
Income taxes (notes 3 and o) 210 248 212
Income before other items 443 503 421
Equity loss (nore 8 (48) 3N (1M
Minority interests 4 (4) (h
Net income before extraordinary item s 399 $ 468 S 410
Extraordinary gain (note 4 — 17 —
Net incomie $ 399 & 485 5 410
| Dividends on preference shares 10 10 l6
| Net income attributable to common sharcholders S 389 S 475 $ 3y4
Net income per common share before -
extraordinary item fnote 2) 3 1.71 $ 2.02 5 1.74
Extraordinary gain per common share prote 4/ — (.07 —
Net income per commoen share iroge 1 $ 1.71 $ 2.09 $ 1.74
Dividends per common share S 0.60 S 0.60 $ 0.60
(onsolidated Statement of Retained Earnings
(i millions of USS)
Year ended December 31 1998 1997 1996
Retained carnings — beginning of vear
As previously reported §3,556  §3.217 52939
Accounting change (e 3 306 — —
As restated h 3,862 3,217 2,959
Net income 399 485 410
4,261 3,702 3,369
Amount related to common shares purchased for cancellarion 37 — —
Dividends — Common 136 136 136
- — Preference 10 10 16
Retained carnings — end of vear piore 15) $4,078 $3,556 $3.217

Viewn Muompeem Vit
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Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

Consolidated Balance Sheet
(i millions of USS)

December 31 1998 1997 1996
Assets
Current assets
Cash and time deposits $ 615 § 608 § S46
Receivables 1,401 1,292 1,262
Invenrories
Aluminum 826 800 736
Raw marerials 345 307 325
Other supplies 242 234 244
1,413 1,341 1,305
3,429 3241 3113
Deferred charges and other assets 517 424 314
Investments (notes & and 16) 58 251 331
Property, plant and equipment (rnote 9;
Cost (excluding Construction work in progress) 11,758 11,133 11,122
Construction work in progress 211 582 335
Accumulared depreciation 6,772 6,257 6,047
5897 5458 5470
Total assets $ 9,901 $9374 $9.228
Liabilities and Shareholders’” Equity B
Current habiliies - S
Payables $1,104 $1.052 $1,008
Short-term horrowings B6 238 178
Income and other taxes 28 98 98
Debt marturing within one vear (mote 12) 166 36 19
1,384 1,424 1,303
Debt not maturing wirhin one year (notes 12 and 17) 1,537 1,241 1,319
Deferred credits and other liabilities (rote 11 604 623 673
Deferred income taxes (notes 3 and 6) 747 - 969 996
Minority interests (note 10} 110 43 73
Sharcholders™ equits
Redeemable non-retractable preference shares (note 1.3 160 203 203
Common shareholders’ equity
Common shares @rote 14) 1,251 1,251 1,235
Retained earnings (nore 15) 4,078 3,556 3,217
Deferred translation adjustments (note 16) 30 64 209
5,359 4,871 4,661
5519 5074 4,864
Commitments and contingencies (notes 18 and 19) .
Total iabilities and sharcholders™ cquity $9,901 $9374 §$9,228

Q‘su«/w\,_'

Jacques Bougie, Director

Approved by the Board:

Alcar Atuprinm Lintied

Ry 0pmcbirie

W.R.C. Blundeil, Director




Consclidated Financial Statements {cont'd)

{onsolidated Statement of {ash Flows

{in mitlions of USS)
Year ended December 31 1998 1997 1996
Operating activities
Net income $§ 399 S 485 % 410
Adjustments to determine cash from operating activities:
Depreciation 462 436 431
Deferred income taxes 29 (8) 15
Equity loss — net of dividends 53 39 21
Change in operating working capital
Change in receivables (109) (30) 187
Change tn inventories (72) (37) 185
Change in pavables 52 44 {99)
Change in income and other taxes payable (70) — (3)
Changes in operating working capital duc to:
Deferred rranslation adjustments 46 (93) (29}
Acquisirions, disposals and
consolidations/deconsolidations 47 (9 {178)
(106) (125) 63
Change in deferred charges, other asscts,
deferred credits and other liabilities — net {113) (139) 25
Gain on sales of businesses — net (156) (12) (8)
Impairment in value of property, plant and cquipment 143 — —
| Other - net - 28 43 24
| Cash from aperating actvities 739 719 981
Financing activities
New debt 359 22 56
Debt repayments ~(57) {25) (459)
302 (3) {403)
Short-term borrowings — net (169) 20 {11
Common shares purchased for cancellation (46) — —
Common shares issued 9 lé 16
Redemption of preference sharcs (43) — {150)
Dividends - Alcan shareholders {including preference) {146) (146} (152)
= Minority interests (2) {3) —
| Cash used for financing acuivitics (95} (46} (700
Investment activities
Property, plant and equipment {BOS5) (641) (482}
Investments - {72) — —

(877) (641) (482)
Net proceeds from disposal of businesses,

investments and orher assers 221 54 660
F;ﬁ from [(uscd fory mvestmient activities (656) (587) 178
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and time deposits 2 (12) {1
Increase (decrease} in cash and time deposits R K(i‘O) 74 458
Cash of companies consolidated (deconsolidated) — ner 17 (12) 22
| Cash and time deposits - beginning of year - 608 546 66
Cash and time deposits — end of year $ 615 % 608 $§ 546

Alcam Aluouneaem Lonnied
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(e mssllions of USK, excopt where ardicated!

1. Nature of Operations

Alcan is engaged, together with subsidiaries, joint ventures and related companies, in all aspects of the
aluminum business on an international scale. Its operatians include the mining and processing of bauxire,
the basic aluminum ore; the refining of bauxite into alumina; the generation of electric powcer for use in
smelting aluminumg the smelting of aluminum from alumina: the reeveling of used and serap aluminum:
the fabrication of aluminum, aluminum alloys and non-aluminum materials into semi-fabricated and fin-
ished products; the distributian and marketng of alwminum and non-aluminum products; and, in connection
with its aluminum operations, the production and sale of industrial chemicals. Alcan, together with s
suhsidiaries, jaint ventures and related companies, has bauxite holdings in six countries, produces alumina
in six, smelts primary aluminum in five, operates aluminum fabricating plants in 13 and has sales outlets
and maintains warchouse inventories in the larger markets of the world. Alcan also operates a glohal
transportation network rhat includes bulk cargo vessels, port lacilities and freighe trains.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use ofF EsTiMATES

The preparation of fimancial statements in conformity with generally aceepted accounting principles (GAAP)
requires management 1o make estimates and assumptions thar affect the reported amounts of assers and
liabilitics and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.

PrINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements, which are expressed in 118, dollars, the principal currency of
Alcan’s business, are prepared in accordance with GAAP in Canada. They include the accounrs of
companies controlled by Alcan, virtually all of which are majority owned. Joint ventures, irrespective

of percentage of ownership, are proportionately consolidared to the extent of Alcan's participation,
Consolidated net income also includes Alcan’s equity in the net income or loss of companics owned 50%
or less where Alcan has significant influence over management, and the investment in these companics

is increased or decreased by Alcan’s share of their undistributed net income or loss and deferred transla-
non adjustments since acquisition. Investments in companies in which Alcan dees not have significant
influence over management are carried at cost less amaunts written off. ITncome is recorded to the extent
of dividends received.

Intercompany balances and transactions, including profits i invenrories, are eliminated.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The financial statemencs of self-sustaining forcign operations {located principally in Europe and Asia) are
rranslared into U.S. dollars ar prevailing exchange rates. Differences arising from exchange rate changes
are included in the Deferred translation adjustments {DTA) component of Common shareholders™ equity.
If chere 1s a reduction in the Company’s ownership in a foreign operation, the relevant portion of DTA is
recognized in Other income or Other expenses at that rime,

Gains or losses on forward exchange contracts or currency options, all of which serve to hedpge certam
future identifiable foreign currency exposures. are included, together with related hedging costs, in Sales
and operating revenues, Cost of sales and operating expenses or Property, plant and equipment, as applic-
able, concurrently with recognition of the underlying irems being hedged.

Unrealized gains or losses on currency swaps, all of which are used to hedge certain sdentifiable foreign
currency debr obligations, are recorded concurrently with the unrealized gains or losses on the debe
obligations being hedged.

Other gains and losses from foreign currency denominated items are included in Other income or
Other expenses.

Aleso Mmoo Limined



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

{in mitlions of USS, except where indicated}

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont'd)}

CommoDITy CONTRACTS AND QPTIONS

Gains or losses on forward metal contracts and options, all of which serve to hedge cermain future denti-
fiable aluminum price exposures, are included, together with related hedping costs, in Sales and operating
revenues or Cost of sales and operating expenses, as applicable, concurrently with recognition of the
underlying items being hedged.

INTEREST RATE Swaps

Amounts receivable or payable under interest rate swaps arce recorded in Interest concurrently with the
interest expense on the underlying debr.

INVENTORIES

Aluminum, raw materials and other supplies are stated ar cost (determined for the most part on the
monthly average method) or net realizable value, whichever is the lower.

CAPITALIZATION OF INTEREST COSTS

The Company capitalizes interest costs associated with the financing of major capital expenditures.

DEPRECIATION

Depreciation is calculated on the siraight-line method using rates based on the estimated useful lives of
the respective assets. The principal rates are 2 1/2% for buildings and range from 1% 10 4% for power
assets and 3% to 121/2% for chemical, smelter and fabricating asscts.

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS AND LIABILITIES

Environmenral expenses are accrued when it is probable that a liability for past events exists. For furure
removal and site restorarion costs, provision is made in a systematic manner by periodic charges to income,
except for assets thar are no longer in use, in which case full provision is charged immediately to income,
Environmental expenses are normally included in Cost of sales and operating expenscs except for large,
unusual amounts which are included in Orher expenses. Accruals related o environmental costs are
included in Payables and Deferred credits and other liabilities.

Environmental expenditures of a capital nature that extend the life, increase the capacity or improve

the safery of an asset or that mitigate or prevent environmental contamination that has vet to occur are
included in Property, plant and equipment and are depreciated generally over the remaining, useful life of
the underlying asset.

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS
The costs of postretirement benefirs other than pensions are recognized on an accrual basis over the
working lives of employees.

INCOME TAXES

Beginning in 1998, the Company uses the liability method for income taxes, under which deferred income
tax liabilities are revalued for all changes in tax rates and exchange races {see note 3}, Prior to 1998, the
Company used the deferral method.

NeT INcOME PER COMMON SHARE

Net income per common share i1s calculated by dividing Ner income atrriburable to common shareholders
by the average number of common shares outstanding (1998: 227.4 million: 1997: 227.0 million;
1996: 226.2 million).

Aloan Ahenenseor et
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont’d)

tin mrillrons of USS, excepi where indicated)

3. Accounting Changes

In 1998, the Company adopted the new recommendations of the Canadian Institute of Chartered
Accountants (CICA) dealing with accounting for income taxes. The principal change under the new
recommendations is the requirement to revalue deterred income taxes for changes in tax rares and
exchange rates.

The Company has adopted the new recommendations retroactively without restating prior years. The
cumulative effect of adopting the new recommendations at January 1, 1998, 1s to decrease Deferred
income taxes by $285, (o increase rerained earnings by 5306 and to decrease Deferred cranslation
adjustments by $21.

The impact of the revaluation of deferred income taxes to reflect current exchange rates is to decrease
the Company’s 1998 income tax provision by §31.

In 1998, the Company adopted, retroactively, the new recommendations of the CICA dealing with
segment disclosures (see note 23).

4. Extraordinary Items - Kemano Completion Project

An extraordinary gain of $26 ($17 after tax or 7 cents per common share) in the fourth quarter of 1997
arose from the sale of a portion of a contract to supply power to B.C. Hydro, net of additional writc-
downs of remaining Kemano Completion Project (*KCP"} assets. In addition to the commitment by the
government of British Columbia to supply replacement power art atrractive rates for a possible smelter
expansion, the settlement of the dispute regarding the cancellanion of KCP allowed the Company to sell
to a third party che right ro supply a specified amount of power to B.C. Hydro under an ongoing vontract.
An extraordinary loss of 3420 ($280 after tax or $1.24 per common share) was recorded in 1995 follow-
ing the cancellation of the project.

5. Differences Between Canadian and United States Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles {GAAP)

CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Under Canadian GAAPD, unrealized exchange gains and losses on translation of long-term monetary items
are deferred and amortized over the life of those items, whereas, under U.S. GAAP, such gains and losses
are absorbed in income immediarely.

DeFERRED INCOME TaxEs

Beginning in 1998, the Company adopted the new accounting standards approved by the Canadian
Institute of Chartered Accountants dealing with accounting for income raxes. These new standards are
substantially identical to U.S. GAAP as contained in FASB Statement No. 109.

Prior to 1998, under Canadian GAAP, deferred income raxes were measured at tax rates prevailing at the
time the provisions for deferred taxes were made. Deferred income taxes for U.S. GAAD were revalued
each period using currently enacred tax rates,

Also, prior 1o 1998, under Canadian GAAP, deferred income taxes of operations using the remporal
method were translated at historical exchange rates, while under U.S. GAAP, deferred income taxes of
all operations were rranslated ar current exchange rates,

INVESTMENTS

Under U.S. GAAP, certain portfolio investments which are considered to be “available-for-sale™ securities
are measured at marker value, with the unrealized gains or losses included in Comprehensive income.
Under Canadian GAAP, these investments are measured at cost.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Beginning in 1998, U.S. GAAP requires the disclosure of Comprehensive income which, for the Company,
is Net income under U.S. GAAP plus the movement in Deferred translation adjustments under U.S. GAAD
{see note 16) plus rhe uprealized gaim or loss for the period on “available-for-sale™ securities. The concept
of Comprehensive income does not exist under Canadian GAAT.

Alcan Al Lomted



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements {(cont'd)

{im mitlions of USS, except where indicated)!

5. Differences Between Canadian and United States Generally Accepted

Accounting Principles (GAAP) (cont'd)

Reconciuation ofF Canapian aNp U.S. GAAP

1998 1997 1996
As Uu.S. As U.s. As U.Ss.
Reported  GAAP Reporred  GAAP Reported  GAAP

Net income from continuing

operations before

extraordinary item $ 399 § 417 S 468 £ 504 $ 410 $ 420
Extraordinary gain — — 17 17 — —
Net income* $ 399 § 417 $ 485 £ 521 $ 410 s 420
Net income ateributable ' o

to common

_ shareholders §$ 389 § 407 $ 475 § 511 $ 394 § 404

Extraordinary gain per o
_ common share s — 8 — % 007 $ 0.07 3 — s —
Net income per

common share

{basic and diluted) $ 1.71 $§ 1.79 $ 2.09 $ 2.25 $ 1.74 % 179
Comprehensive income n/a $ 435 n/a $ 383 n/a 3 347
Investments — December 31 § 58 $ 103 £ 251 £ 251 § 331 $ 33
Deferred income taxes - '
~ =December 31 § 747 8§ 747 5 969 $ 684 $ 9% § 755
Rerained earnings o

- December 31 $ 4,078 $ 4,129  § 3,556 % 3,895 § 3217 $ 3,520
Deferred translarion

adjustments (DTA)

— December 31 $ 30 $ (24) & 64 $ 3 $ 209 3 141

*In 1997, $37 (82 in 1996) of the net difference betiveen “As Reported™” and "U.S. GAAP” relates to accounting for deferred

income taxes, fn 1997, 823 of this difference arose from changes in tax rates and regulations enacted during the year.

For 1997 and 1996, the principal items included in Deferred income raxes under U.S. GAAP were:

December 31

1997 1996
Liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment t 767 $ 810
Undistributed earnings 29 60
Inventory valuation 52 43
Other 64 77
- 912 990
Assety:
Tax benefit carryovers 114 121
Accounting provisions not currently deductible for rax 164 180
| Other 26 18
304 319
Valuaton allow.ance camount not hhely o he recovereds 76 84
B 228 233
Net deferred income 1av labiliny $ 684 $ 755

Alcan Atumstae [nted
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)
fn mullions of USS, except where indicated?

5. Differences Between Canadian and United States Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) (cont'd)

The difference between DTA under Canadian GAAP and U.S. GAAP arises principally from the impact of
FASB Statemient No. 109 and from the different treatment of exchange on long-term debr at January 1, 1983,
resulting from the adoption of accounting standards on forcign currency translation.

Netincome from continuing operations on a LS. GAADP basis for the years 1995 and 1994 was $266
and $175, respectively, compared to $263 and $96, respectively, as reported. Net income from continuing
operations per common share on a LS. GAAP basis for the years 1995 and 1994 was $1.07 and $0.69,
respectively, compared 1o $1.06 and $0.34, respectively, as reported.

Beginning in 2000, the Company will be implementing, for U.S. GAAP only, FASB Statement No. 133,
Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities, The Company is currently assessing the impact of the
new standard, which will affect how the Company measures and reports the various financial instrumenrs
that it uscs in its risk management activitics,

6. Income Taxes

1998 1997 19%6
Tneonme before meome taves and other items

Canada § 175 S 360 § 233
Other countries 478 393 398
653 753 633

Current imcomu taxes
Canada 65 251 87
Other countries 116 5 110
' 181 256 197

referred income taxes
Canada (22) (28} (5
Other counrries 51 20 20
29 (8) 13
[CGIMe Lin provision £ 210 $ 248 g 212

The composite of the applicable statutory corporate income tax rates in Canada s 40.4% (1997: 40.3%:;
1996: 40.1%). The following is a reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the above composite
statutory rates with the income tax provision:

1998 1997 1996
Income taxes ar the composite statutory rare $ 264 5303 234
Differences artriburable to:
Exchange translation items 46 13 1]
Exchange revaluation of deferred income taxes {31) nfa nfa
Effect of tax rate changes on deferred income taxes (4) n/a n/a
Unrecorded tax benefits on losses — net (3) (12 33
Investment and other atlowances {21} {32) 24)
Large corporations tax 4 3 3
Withholding taxes 5 5 6
Reduced rate or tax exempt items (47} )] 17
Foreign tax rate differences (16) {5) {18)
Prior vears' tax adjustments 3 30 {11
Other — net 10 7 7
Income tax prn\isinn § 210 § 248 s 212
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Notes to {(onsolidated Financial Statements {(cont'd)

fin millions of USS, except where indicated)

6. Income Taxes (cont'd)

At December 31, 1998, the principal items included in Deferred income raxes are:

Liabilities:
Property, plant and cquipment $ 773
Undistributed carntings 20
Inventory valuation 49
Other 73
915
"!v\ﬂﬂet\:
Tax benefit carryovers 99
Accounting provisions nor currently deductble for tax 167
~Other 13
- 279
Valuation allowaimee tamouns not likely to be recovereds 1
Net deferred income tax Niabilits $ 747

In 1997, 519 (87 in 1996) of benefits related to income tax loss carrvforwards were recorded in deferred
income tax expense.

Based on rates of exchange ac December 31, 1998, tax benefits of approximately $50 relating 1o prior
and currenr years' operating losses and $4.5 of benefits related ro capiral losses and tax credits carried for-
ward will be recognized in income when it is more likely than not that such henefirs will be realized.

In 1997, income taxes on Canadian operations for the years 1988 to 1991 were reassessed by the Canadian
tax authorities. Most of the additional raxes and interest relate to transfer pricing issues and are recover-
able in other countries {sce note 22). The process to obtain recoveries from other countries is under way.
Existing provisions are adequate to cover any amounts not recoverable.

7. Joint Ventures

The activities of the Company’s major joint ventures are the procurcinent and processing of raw materials
in Australia, Brazil, Guinca and Jamaica, as well as aluminum rolling operations in Germany and the
United States.

Alcan’s proportionate interest in all joint ventures is included in the consolidated financial statements,
Summarized financial information relating to Alcan’s share of these joint ventures is provided below.

Because most of the activities of the Company’s joint ventures relare to supplying the Company’s other
operations, the portion of the Company's third-party revenucs, and related costs and expenses, conducted
through joint ventures is insignificant.

1998 1997 1996

Financial position at December 31

Inventories $ 174 $ 189 5 159

Property, plant and equipment — net 959 943 1,001
| Other assets 1m 60 95
| Totat assers $ 1,234 § 1,192 § 1.255

Short-term debr $ 19 5 38 % 17

Debt not maturing within one year 123 100 106
| Other liabilities 167 156 152
[ Total liabilities $ 309§ 294 5 278

Cash flow information for the vear ended PDecanber 31

Cash from (used for) financing aceivities $ (1 5 10 5 12

Cash used for investment activities § (BS) § (78) S (76)

Moas Awmomnn: Finnted
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ({(cont'd) ;

{in millions of USS, except where indicated)

8. Investments

1998 1997 1996
Companies accounted for under the equity method $ 13 § 245 S 324
Portfolio investments — at cost, less amounts written off 45 6 7

$ 58 5 251 $ 331

As described in note 10, in the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company reduced its 45.6% interest in Nippon
Light Meral Company, Ltd. (NLM} to 11.2%. Wirh the reduction in Alcan’s interest to below 20%, NLM
is no longer accounted for on an equity basis but is treated as a portfolio investment.

As described in note 10, in July 1998, the Company acquired a controlling interest in Indian Aluminium
Company, Limited {Indal}, the accounts of which are now consolidared with those of the Company. Indal
was previously treated as an cquity investment.

For 1997 and 1996, the combined results of operations and financial position for NI.M and Indal are
included in the summary below, For 1998, the combined results of operations include information for
NLM and Indal to the dares these entities ceased to be equity accounted investments.

In 1998, the Company recorded a special after-tax charge of $27 ($30 in 1997), included in Equity loss,
reflecting the Company’s share of construction contracr losses and restructuring provisions in NLM.
The 1996 information for NLM excludes, from the dare of acquisition, the interest in thosc subsidiaries
acquired by the Company from NLM as a result of the restructuring of the Company’s holdings in Asia,
explained in note 10.

1998 1997 1996
Results of upvr.l[inn\ for the vear ended December 31
Revenues $ 3,626 $ 5,572 S 6,483
Costs and expenses 3,719 5,622 6,457
Income (loss} before income taxes {93) (50) 26
Income taxes 12 a5 65
Ner loss $§ (105) % {8SY % (3%
Alcan’s share of Net loss § (48) S 3 $ (1
Dividends received by Alcan $ 5 $ 6 $ 11
I'inanaial position at December 31
Current assets n/a $ 2,600 $ 3,013
Current liabilities w/a 2,519 2,735
Working capital n/a 81 278
Property, plant and equipment - net n/a 1,737 1,916
Other assets ~ net nfa 333 261

n/a 2,153 2,455
Debt not maturing within one year LTE] 1,376 1,422
Net assers n/a_ S 777 $ 1,033
Alean's equity in ner assets n/a $ 245 5 324
9. Property, Plant and Equipment

1998 1997 1996
Cost {excluding Construction work in progress?
Land and property righs $§ 236 § 219 3 136
Buildings, machinery and equipment 11,522 10,914 10,886

$11,758 $11,133 §11,122

Accumulated depreciation relates primarily 1o Buildings, machinery and equipment,

In carly 1999, the Company announced the sale of the Aughinish alumina refinery. Negotiations of the
sale hegan in late 1998 and, as a result of that process, the Company determined that the value of these
assets was impaired as at December 31, 1998. A charge of $143 reflecting the impairment is included in
Other expenscs. Excluding che impairment charge, these assets contributed approximately $27 of income
before taxes in 1998.

Alcan Alwneminn Lemted




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

{in millions of USS. except where mdicated)

9. Property, Plant and Equipment (cont'd)

On an ongoing basis, capital expenditures of the Company are estimaced ar $4350 per vear. In addition,
the Company cxpects to spend approximately $630 in 1999 on the construction of a new smelter at Alma,
Queber, and the continuation of its rolling mill expansion in Brazil.

10. Restructuring of Holdings tn Asia

JapAN

In the fourth quarter of 1998, the Company reduced its 45.6% invesoment in Nippon Light Metal
Company, Led. (NLM) ro 1 1.2%. The net cash proceeds from the sale of shares were approximarely $193
with a corresponding gain, included in Ocher income, of approximatelv $146 (5140 after 1ax), including a
previously deferred gain of $87 after tax related to the sale in 1996 of Toyo Aluminium KUK, (Toval) to NLM.

In the third quarter of 1996, the Company sold its cquity-accounted investment in Toyal to NLM, for cash
proceeds of $207. Approximately $31 of the total after-rax gain of $128, including deferred translation
adjustments, on this sale continues to be deferred and will be recognized if Alcan further reduces its
remaining investment in NLM. In 1998, 587 of the gain was recognized (57 in 1997 and $3 in 1996).

{NDIA

In 1998, the Company acquired an additional 20%, of Indian Aluminium Company, Limited (Indal) for
$70 in cash. As a result, Alcan obrained a controlling interest of 54.6% in Indal. The accounss of Indal
have been consolidated with effect from July 1998, Prior 1o this date, Alcan accounted for its investment
in Indal under the equity method.

Included in the Company’s balance sheet ar the date of acquisition were the following assets and liabihities

of Indal:

Working capital $ 40
Property, plant and equipinent 212
| Other assers — net {5}
247
Long-term debt 75
| Minority interest 58
Net assets $ 114

SOUTHEAST ASIA

In November 1996, the Company and NLM created a new company, Alcan Nikkei Asia Holdings Ltd.
(ANAH), owned 60% by Alcan and 40% by NLM. In exchange for shares in ANAH, the Company
contributed a portion of its holdings in NLM while NLM contribured its sharcholdings in a number of
companies located in Malaysia, Thailand and China. At December 31, 1997 and 1996, the Company’s
effective ownership of ANAH was 78.2%, including its interest held through NLM, then accounted for
under the equity method. As a result of the Company's sale during 1998 of most of its interest in NLM,
now accounted for under the cost method, the Company's eftective ownership in ANAH is 60%,.

11. Deferred Credits and Other Liabilities

Deferred credits and other liabilities comprise the following clements:

1998 1997 1996

Deferred revenues $ 36 S 56 s 74
Deferred profit on sale of investmenty 2 14 L6
Postretirement and post-employment henefies 395 390 403
Environmental liabilivics 40 37 32
Rauionalization costs 23 32 31
Claims 43 40 39
| Other 45 54 76
§ 604 $ 623 S 673
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Notes to (onsolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

(it puiifions of USS, except where mdicated)

12. Debt Not Maturing Within One Year

1998 1997 1996
AMMean Aluminium Lonred
Deurschmark bank Joans, due 1999/2005 (DA 364 million) (a) § 218 $ 213 § 251
5.875% Debentures, due 2000 150 150} 156
5.375% Swiss franc bonds, due 2003 (b) 130 123 132
CARIFA foan, due 2006 () 60 60 60
6.2 5% Debentures, due 2008 200 — —
9.5% Debentures, due 2010 (d) 100 100 100
9.625% Sinking fund debentores, due 2000/2019 (d) 150 150 150
8.875% Dehentures, due 2022 (¢) 150 150 150
7.25% Debentures, due 2028 100 —
Orther debre, due 2001 7 7 8
Alean Aluminam Corporation
7.25% Debentures, due 1999 () 100 100 100
(nther debt, due 199%/2004 2 3 6
Alean Deutsehland GinbH and subsidiary companics
6. 78% Bank loans — — 2
5.65% Bank loans, due 2001 {(DM15 million) 9 8 10
Bank loans, due 2000/2008 (DM 107 million) (a) 64 56 65
Indean Aluminivm Compansy, Limited
Bank loans, due 1999/2006 (a) 51 — —
6.55% Bank loans, due 200072002 18 — —
Other delxr, due 1999/2006 28 — —
Queensland Ahamma Lintieed
Bank loans, due 2000/2003 (a) 78 79 71
Other companics
Bank loans, due 19992011 (a) 71 31 48
4% Furodollar exchangeable debentures, due 2003 (g) 14 24 24
Other delbr, due 2002/2036 3 3 11
71,703 1,277 1,338
Debr maturing within one vear included m cureent labilities (166) (36) (9
$ 1,537 $1.241 S 1319

{a) Interest rates fluctuate principally with the lender's prime commercial rate, the commercial bank bill
rate, or are tied to LIBOR rares.

b} The Swiss franc bonds were issued as SFr178 million and were swapped for $105 at an effective
interest rare of 8.98%,

{¢} The Caribbean Basin Projects Financing Authority (CARIFA) loan bears interese ar a rate related to
.5, LIBOR.

{d} The Company can redeem the 9.5% debentures berween the years 2000 and 2007 at amounts declining
from 104 % to 100% of the principal and can redeem the 9.625% debentures berween the years 1999
and 2009 at amounts declining from 103% 1o 100% of the principal. In certain circumstances prior to
January 30, 2000, for the 9.5% debentures, or prior to July 30, 1999, for the 9.625% debentures, the
holders may retract the debentures at 100%,

(e} The Company has the right 1o redeem the debentures during che years 2002 ta 2012 ar amournts

17

declining from 104% to 100% of the principal amount.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

it millfons of USS, except where midicated)

12. Debt Not Maturing Within One Year (cont’d)

{f) The following is summarized consolidated financial information for Alcan Aluminum Corporation, a
wholly-owned subsidiary which consolidates virtually all of the Company’s operations in the United States:

1998 1997 1996
Resadis of aperations tor the vear ended Drecomber 31
Revenues $ 3,766 5 3,624 $ 3,389
Costs and expenses 3,482 3,438 3.242
Income befure meome taxes 284 186 147
Income taxes 110 b 53
Net income s 174 $ 105 % 92
Financial pasiion at December 31
Current assets $ 883 $ 8O S 868
Current liahilinies 483 376 574
Working capital 400 425 290
Praperty, plant and equipment - net 714 736 756
Other liabilities — net {67} (19Y) (186)
1,047 962 860
Debt not maturing within one year o2 102 105
Net assers § 1,045 S 860 S 735

The above figures are prepared using the accounting principles followed by the Company {sev note 2),
except that inventories have been valued principally by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method.

(g} Debenture holders are entitled to receive at their option 1,772 common shares held by the Company in
NLM, a portlolio investment, in exchange for cach wn thousand dollar principal amount of debentures,
The Company can redeem the debentures in 1999 ar 100% of the principal.

The Company had swapped, to 1998, the interest pavments on $100 of its floating rate debe in exchange
for fixed interest payments.

Based on rates of exchange at year-end, debt repavment requirements over the next five vears amount to
$166in 1999, 5239 in 2000, §96 in 2001, $93 in 2002 and $255 0 2003,

The Company has a $1,000 global, mult-year and multi-curreney facility with a syndicate of major inrer-
national banks. At December 31, 1998, no funds had been borrowed under this facility and the full amount
was avaitable,

13. Preference Shares

AUTHORIZED
An unlimited number of Preference Shares issuable in series. All shares are withour nominal or par value.

AUTHORIZED AND OUTSTANDING

In each of the years 1998, 1997 and 1996, there were authorized and outstanding 5,700,000 series ¢ and
3,000,000 serics E, redeemable non-retractable preference shares with stated values of $106 and $54,
respectively.

The 1,700,000 serics D redeemable non-retractable preference shares with stared value of $43, authorized
and outstanding throughout 1996 and 1997, were redeemed in June 1998.

Preference shares, series C and E are cligible for quarterly dividends based on an amount related 1o the
average of the Canadian prime interest rates quoted by two major Canadian banks for stated periods.

Preference shares, serics C and E may be called for redemption at the option of the Company on 30 davs
notice at CAN$25.00 per share.

Any partial redemption of preference shares must be made on a pro rata basis or by lor.

In 1996, 300 scries G redeemable non-retractable shares with stared value of $150 were redeemed.

Alcart Ahemonam Fmied
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

fn mnllions of USS, exeept wihere meicared)

14. Common Shares

The authorized common share capital 1s an unlimited number of common shares without nominal or par
value. Changes in ourstanding common shares are sumumarized helow:

Number (in thousands) Stated Value
1998 1997 1996 1958 1997 1996

Quistanding - begmning

of vear 227,344 226,620 225,913 £ 1,251 S 1,235 $ 1,219
Lasued tor caslu
Executive share opuon plan 135 550 549 2 1 11
Duvidend reinvestment and

share purchase plans 254 174 158 7 5 5
Purchased for cancellation (1,730)* — - (9 — —
Outstanding — end of year 226,003 227,344 226620 § 1,251 $ 1.251  $ 1,235

v 1648 were cancelled 1 1998 and 83 1 1999,

Under the executive share option plan, certain employees may purchase common shares at marker value
on the effecrive date of the grant of cach option. The average price of the shares covered by the outstanding
options 158 CANS38.16 per share. The vesting pertod for options granted afrer Sepremher 1998 is linked 10
Alcan’s share price performance, but does not exceed nine years, Options granted before Seprember 1998
vest generally over a fixed period of four vears from the grant date and expire at various dates during the
nexe 10 vears. Changes in the number of shares under oprion are summarized below:

_ _N“umbH {in thousands)
1598 1997 1996
Outstanding - beginning of vear 4,193 3715 3473
Granted 1,122 10O 853
Fxercised (134) {350 (549}
Caneelled o 2s) (72) (62)
Quitstanding - end of year 5,15677 4,193 3,715

During 1998, the Company also granted 774,700 opnions, which grants become effective, subject 1o
certain restrictions, upon the exercise of options previously granted,

At December 31, 1998, the Company had reserved for issue under the executive share option plan
19,266,536 shares.

The Company does not recognize compensation expense for options granted under the executive share
option plan. If the Company had ciected to recognize compensation expense for these options in accor-
dance with the methodology prescribed by Statement No. 123 of che U.S. Financial Accounting Standards
Board. net income would have been lower by $9, or $0.04 per share, ($10, or $0.04 per share, in 1997
and 58, or $0.04 per share, in 1996).

Under a normal course issuer hid, which terminates on September 28, 1999, the Company is authorized 10
repurchase up to 22,700,000 commen shares, representing approximately 10% of the outstanding shares.
In 1998, 1,730,000 common shares were purchased under this authorization.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

In 1990, sharcholders approved a plan whereby cach common share of the Company carries one right to
purchase additional common shares. The plan, with certain amendments, was reconfirmed at the 1993
Annual Meeting. The rights under the plan are not currently exercisable hur may become so upon the
acquisition by a person or group of affiliated or associated persons (“Acquiring Person™) of beneficial
ownership of 20% or more of the Company's outstanding voung shares or upon the commencement of

a takeover bid. Holders of rights, with the exceprion of an Acquiring Person, in such aircumstances will

be entitled 10 purchase from the Company, upon payment of the exercise price {currently $100.00), such
number of additional common shares as can be purchased for twice the exercise price based on the marker
value of the Company’s common shares at the time the rights become exercisable,

Afvan Alumoan Lorated




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

an mllions of USS, except where ordicated)

14, Common Shares {cont'd}

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLaM {cONT'D)

The plan has a permitted bid feature which allows a rakeover bid to proceed withour the rights under the
plan becoming exercisable, provided that it meets certain minimum specified standards of fairness and
disclosure, even if the Board does not support the bid.

The rights expire in 1999, but may be redeemed carlier by the Board, with the prior consent of the holders
of rights or common shares, for 1 cent per right. In addition, should a person or group of persons acquire
outstanding voting shares pursuant to a permitted bid or a share acquisition in respect of which the Board
has waived the application of the plan, the Board shall be deemed to have elected to redeem the righrs at

1 cent per right.

The shareholders will be asked at the 1999 Annual Meeting ro approve amendments to the plan described
in the Management Proxy Circular for that meeting which, if approved, will extend the plan until

May 1, 2008, unless rerminared carlier, with reconfirmarion at the Annual meeting of sharcholders in 2002
and 2005. If the amendments arc not approved, the plan will remain in effect until December 14, 1999,

unless terminated carlier.

15. Retained Earnings

Consolidared retained earnings at December 31, 1998, include $2.410 of undistributed carnings of
subsidiaries and joint ventures, some part of which may be subject to certain raxes and other resericrions
on distribution to the parent companv: no provision is made for such taxes because these earnings are
reinvested in the business.

16. Currency Gains and Losses

The following are the amounts recognized in the iimancial statements:

1998 1997 1996

Currency gains tosses) excluding realized deferred

ranslation adjustmoents:

Forward exchange contracrs and currency options $ (58 5 22 S 40
| Other 4 1 (4)
i S (54 0§ 23 5 36

Deferred translatdion adjustiments = beginning of vear '

As previous reported § 64 $ 209 S 304
| Accounting change tmote 3) oy — —

As restated 43 209 304

Effect of exchange rate changes 238 {143 (94
| Gains realized” {41) (2 (1)

Balance - end of year § 30 5 a4 5 209

* The gaitt realized 1 1998 relates principatly 1o the sale of a portion of the Company’s meestiment in Nippon Light Metal
Company, Lid.

In 1998, 85 of exchange losses related ro hedging of Canadian dollar construction costs of the new smeleer
at Alma, in Quebec, are included in Construction work in progress.
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Notes to (onsolidated Financial Statements (cont'd)

e nliions of UNS, except where mdicited)

17.Financial Instruments and Commodity Contracts

In conducting its business, the Company uses various instruments, including forward contraces and
options, to manage the risks arising from Huctuatons in exchange rates, interest rates and aluminum
prices. All such instruments are used for risk management purposes only,

FinancIAL INSTRUMENYS — CURRENCY

The Company secks to manage the risks arising from movements in exchange rates on idencifiable firm

cost commitments (principally Canadian dollar) and certain foreign currency denominated revenues. A

combination of forward exchange contracts and options, covering periods of up 1o three vears, are used
1o manage these risks.

At December 31, 1998, the contract amount of forward exchange contracts outstanding used to hedge
future firm operating cost commitments was $426 (51,296 in 1997 and 51,791 in 1996) while the contract
amount of purchased options outstanding used ro hedge future firm operating cost commitments was
51,499 (S1,512in 1997 and $614 in 1996). At December 31, 1998, the contract amount of outstanding
forward exchange contracts used to hedge future revenues was $47 (5268 in 1997 and $387 in 1996). At
December 31, 1998, the contract amount of forward exchange contracts outstanding used to hedge future
Canadian dollar commitments for the construction of a new smelter at Alma, Quebee, was $281 {nil in
1997 and 1996) while the contract amount of purchased options outstanding used to hedge the Canadian
dollar commirments for the new smelter was 83135 (nil in 1997 and 1996).

The market value of outstanding forward exchange contracts related to hedges of operating costs or rev-
enues at December 31, 1998 was such thatif these contracts had been closed out, the Company would
have paid $18 (paid $24 i1 1997 and received $17 in 1996). Based on prevailing markert prices, if the cur-
reney option contracts related to operating cost commitments had been closed out on December 31, 1998,
the Company would have paid $33 (paid $36 in 1997 and received S1in 1996). The marker value at
December 31, 1998 of outstanding forward exchange contracts related 1o hedges of cost commitments
for the new smeleer at Alma, Quebee, was such that if these conrracts had been closed out, the Company
would have paid $8. Based on prevailing marker prices, if the currency option contracts relating to smelter
construction cost commitments had been ciosed out ac December 31, 1998, the Company would have
paid $2. Unrealized gains and losses on outstanding forward contracts and options are not recorded in
the financial statements until maturity of the underlving transactons,

In addition, certain intercompany foreign currency denominated loans are hedged through the use of
forward exchange contracrs. At December 31, 1998, the contract amount of such forward contracts was
$212(8220 1 1997 and $231 in 1996) and the market value was such that if these contracts had been
closed our, the Company would have received $4 (816 in 1997 and $2 in 1996).

Included in Deferred charges and other assets and Receivables was an amount of $71(82 in 1996) con-
sisting, of net losses on terminared forward exchange contraces and options, as well as the net cost of
outstanding oprions, used to hedge future costs, including costs related to the construction of the new
smelter at Alma. These deferred charges are included in the cost of the items being hedged ac the same
time as the underlving transactions being hedged are recognized.

FinanciaL INSTRUMENTS — DEBT NOT MATURING WITHIN ONE YEAR

As explained in note 12 the 5.375% Swiss franc bonds of principal amount SFr178 have been swapped
for §105 ar an cifective inrerest rate of 8,98%., If the swap bad been closed our ar December 31, 1998, the
Company would have received a net amount of $24 (S13 in 1997 and $32 in 1996), of which an amount
of $25 related to the swap of the principal (818 in 1997 and 527 in 1996) has been recorded in Deferred
charges and other assers,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — INTEREST RATES

The Company sometimes enters into interest rate swaps to manage funding costs as well as the volatility
of interest rates. Amounts receivable or pavable relared to swaps are recorded in Interest concurrently
with the interest expense on the underlying debr.

Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are not recognized on a mark to market basis since
these refate specifically to interest costs on identifiable debt.

There were no significant interest rate swap agreements outstanding at Pecember 31, 1998, If all interest
rate swap agreements had been closed out on December 31, 1997, the Company would have paid 52
(86 in 1996), based on prevailing interest rates.
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17.Financial Instruments and Commodity Contracts {cont'd}

CommoDnITYy CONTRACTS — METAL

Depending on supply and market conditions, as weli as for logistical reasons, the Company may sell pri-
mary metal to third parties and may purchase primary and secondary aluminum on the open market to
meet its fabricated products requirements. In addition, the Company may hedge certain commuments
arising from pricing arrangements with some of its customers.

Through the nse of forward purchase and sales contracts and oprions, the Company seeks wo limir the
negative impact of low mctal prices whilst retaining most of the benefit from higher metal prices.

At December 31, 1998, the Company had outstanding forward purchase contracts covering 465,600 tonnes
{418,800 tonnes at December 31, 1997 and 474,300 tonnes at December 31, 1996}, maturing at various
dates principally in 1999, 2000 and 2001 {1998, 1999 and 2000 at December 31, 1997 and 1997, 1998
and 1999 at December 31, 1996). In additon, the Company held call options outstanding for 346,000 tonnes
(657,800 tonnes at December 31, 1997 and 591,300 tonnes at December 31, 1996} marturing at various
dates in 1999 and 2000 {1998 and 1999 at December 31, 1997 and 1997 and 1998 at December 31, 1996},

At December 31, 1998, the Company held put options, maturing in 1999, which establish a minimum
price for the metal component of 20,000 ronnes of the Company’s future sales (60,000 ronnes maturing
in 1998 and 1999 at December 31, 1997),

Included in Receivables or Deferred charges and other assets is $22 ($33 in 1997 and $25 in 1996)
representing the net cost of outstanding options,

The option premiums paid and received, together with the realized gains or losses on the contracts, are
included in Sales and operating revenues or Cost of sales and operating expensces, as applicable, concur-
rently with recognition of the underlying items being hedged.

Based on metal prices prevailmg on Pecember 31, 1998, if all commaodity forward purchase contracts and
options had been closed out, the Company would have paid $30 (paid $9 in 1997 and received 520 in 1996).

COUNTERPARTY Risk

As exchange rates, interest rates and metal prices fluctuate, the above contraces will generate gains and

losses that will be oftser by changes in the value of the underlying items being hedged. The Company may
be exposed to losses in the future if the counterparties to the above contracts fail 1o perform. However, the
Company is satisfied that the risk of such non-performance is remote, due 1o its controls on credit exposures,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS — MARKET VaLUF

On December 31, 1998, the fair value of the Company's long-term debr totalling $1,703 (51,277 in 1997
and $1,338in 1996} was $1,762 (31,321 10 1997 and $1,363 in 1996}, based on market prices for the
Company’s fixed rate securities and the book value of variable rate debt.

At December 31, 1998, the quoted marker value of the Company’s portfolio investments having a book
value of $45 was $90. Prior to 1998, portfolio investments held by the Company were not significant.

At December 31, 1998, the market value of the Company’s preference shares having a book value of
$160 was $140. (In 1997 and 1996, the market value was approximately equal ro book value.)

The market values of all other financial assets and hiabilities are approximately equal to their carrying values,

18. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has guaranteed the repayment of approximately $7 of indebeedness by third partics.

Alcan believes that none of these guarantees is likely to be invoked, Commitments wath third parties and
certain related companies for supplies of goods and services are estimated at $373 in 1999, $212 in 2000,
$35in 2001, $35 in 2002, $25 in 2003, and $97 thereafter. Most of the comminments in 1999 and 2000
relate to the construction of the new smeler at Alma, Quebec. Total fixed charges from these entities,
excluding $175 in relation to the smelter at Alma, were $23 in 1998, 59 in 1997 and $14 in 1996.

Minimum rental obligations arc estimated ar $41 in 1999, $36 in 2000, 823 in 2001, $21 in 2002, $19
in 2003 and $51 thereafter. Total rental expenses amounted to $83 in 1998, $70 in 1997 and $80 in 1996.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ({(cont'd)

tin metllions of USS, except webere indicated)

18. Commitments and Contingencies (cont’'d)

Alcan, in the course of its operations, is subject to environmental and other claims, lawsuits and contin-
gencies, Accruals have been made in specific instances where it is probable that liabilities will be incurred
and where such habilities can be reasonably estimated. Although it is possible that liabilities may arise in
other instances for which no accruals have been made, the Company does not believe that such an our-
come will significantly impair its operations or have a material adverse effect on its financial position,

In addition, sce reference to income taxes in note 6, capital expenditures in note 9, debr repavments in
note 12, financial mstruments and commodity concracts in note 17 and year 2000 compliance in note 19.

19, Year 2000 Compliance

The Year 2000 Issue arises because many computerized systems use two digits rather than four ro idenrify
a year. Dare-sensitive systems may recognize the year 2000 as 1900 or some other date, resulting in pos-
sible errers when information using year 2000 dates is processed. In addition, similar problems may arise
in some systems which use certain dates in 1999 to represent something other than a date. The effects of
the Year 2000 lssue may be experienced before, on, or after January 1, 2000, and, if not addressed, the
impact on operations and financial reporting may range from minor errors to significant systems fatlure
which could affect an entity’s ability to conduct normal business operations, It is not possible to be certain
that all aspects of the Year 2000 Issue affecting the Company, including those related to the efforts of
customers, suppliers, or other third parties, will be fully resolved.

Generally, costs associated with the Year 2000 Issuce are being expensed as incurred.

2Q. Supplementary Information

1998 1997 1996

[ncome statement
Interest on long-term debt s 93 S 9 $ 109
Capitalized interest $ (15) S (2) $ —
Ralance sheet
Payahles

Acerued emplovment costs § 19 S 170 $ 167
Short-term borrowings (principally from banks) s 86 s 238 S 178
At December 31, 1998, the weighted average interest
rate on short-term borrowings was 4.7%
(5.3% in 1997 and 4.8% in 1996).
Statement of cash flows
Imterest paid $ 9% S 10l S 133
Income taxes paid § 298 $ 261 $ 214
All time deposits qualify as cash equivalents.

21. Postretirement Benefits

Alcan and its subsidiaries have established pension plans in the principal countries where they operate, for
the greater part contributory and generally open o all employees. Most plans provide pension benefits
that are based on the emplovee’s highest average eligible compensation during any consecutive 36-month
period before retirement. Plan assets consist primarily of listed stocks and bonds.

Alcan’s funding policy is to contribure the amount required to provide for benefits attributed o service
to date, with projection of salaries to retirement, and ro amortize unfunded actuarial liabilities for the
most part over periods of 15 vears or less, generally corresponding ro the expected average remaining
service life of the employces.

The Company provides life insurance benefits under some of its retirement plans, Certain early retirement
arrangements also provide for medical benetics, generally only untl the age of 65. These plans are not funded.
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Notes to (onsolidated Filnancial Statements (cont’d)

(i putlions of USS, exceptichere mdicated)

21. Postretirement Benefits (cont'd)

~_ Pension Benefits Other Benefiss
1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996
Change in the actuarial
Projected Benelin
Obligation (PBOY for
Pension Benedits and
Accumudated Benetie
Obligation (ABO)
for Other Bencfits
PBO/ABQ ar January 1 $ 3,550 $ 3,306 $ 3,210 $ 172 S 178 S 191
Service cust 84 73 6Y 4 4 4
Interest cost 236 231 225 11 12 12
Members' contributions 20 20 19 — — —
Benefirs paid {200) (189) {193) {9} (9 (mn
Amendments 80 47 80 — — {16)
Acquisitions/divestitures (1} (176) (25) —_ — —
Actuarnial (gain) loss 45 63 54 {2} (13} (2}
| Currency (gains) losses 13 (25) 69 = — —
PBO/ABO at December 31 $ 3,827 $ 3.550 § 3,506 $ 1786 $ 172 § 178

Change in marker value of
plan assets {Assels}

Assets at January 1 $ 4,231 $ 3,986 $ 3,447 $ — $ — 5 —
Actual return on assets 204 566 617 — — —
Members' contributions 20 20 19 —_ — —
Benefits paid (200) {189} (195) —_ — —
Company contributions 36 R 36 — — —
Acquisitions/divestitures — {176) (13 — — —
- Currency gains (losses) T (14) = — =
Assets at December 31 $ 4298 54231 5394 § T

Assets in excess of PBO/ABO $ 471 S 681 $ 480 § (176) S (172) S (178)
Unamortized

- actuanial (gains) losses {736) (943) {779) (24) (24) (13
- prior service cost 263 276 313 {5) {9) (13}
- nct initial (surplus)

liability {27} (48) (71} 2 2 2

Net hiability in balance sheet § (29) 3 (34) S (57} $ (203) $ (203) $ (202)

The ABO of pension plans is $3,414 (3,156 in 1997 and $3.136 in 1996). For certain plans, the ABO
exceeds the market value of the assets. For these plans, the ABO 15 $1,239 (51,086 in 1997 and $212 in 1996)
while the marker value of the assets is $1,041 (5951 in 1997 and $65 in 1996).

L ~ Pension Benelits ) Other Benefits
1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996
Components of net periodic
benehit cost
Service cost s 84 S 73 ) 69 s 4 S 4 S 4
Interest cost 236 23] 225 11 12 12
Expected return on assets {293) (274) 1248} —_ — —
Amortization
- actuarial (gains) losses {74) (67) (21} (2) {2) (1}
- prior service cost 34 83 33 (4) {4) (3
- net initial {surplus)
liability {21) (22) 123) —_ — —
Curtailment/settlement
{gains) losses — — (5 _ — (n
Net periodic benefit cost $ 26 $ 24 S 30 [3 9 S 10 $ 11
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements {(cont'd)

(i nullions of USS. except where indicated)

21. Postretirement Benefits (cont'd)

Pension Benefirs _ Other Bencefis
1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996
Weighted-average assumiptions
at Decenber 31
Discounr rare 6.3% 6.8% 7.2% 6.4% 6.7 "% 7.0%
Average compensation growth 4.3% 4.9% 4.9% 4.5% 4.9% 5.2%
Expected return on assets 7.2% 7.3% 7.3% n/a n/a n/a

The assumed health care cost trend rate used for measurement purposes was 8.5% for 1999, decreasing
gradually ro 4.0% 1 2006 and remaining at that level thercafrer. A one pereentage point change in

assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

Other Bendfits

1% 1%
Increase Decrease

Sensitivity Analvais
Effect on service and interest cost 1 n
Effect on ABO 9 (8)
22. Information by Geographic Areas

Location 1998 1997 1996

Sales and operatmng Canada $ 1,980 $ 1,926 $ 2,169

revenues United States 504 541 499

— subsidiaries S()uth America 37 41 23

United Kingdom 294 169 256

Germany 143 203 184

Other Europe 301 118 318

Asia and Pacific 70 68 78

All other 358 350 349

Sub-rotal 3,687 1816 3,878

Consolidation eliminations ~ (3,687) {3,816) (3.878)

Total s — $ — $ —

continuity of supply and other factors.

Sales ro subsidiary companies are made at fair market prices recognizing volume,

Sales and operating Canada $ 1,004 51,169 $ 1,210
revenues Unirted States 3,229 3,063 2,871

— third partices South America 369 395 579
United Kingdom 515 338 576

Germany 1,379 1,291 1,289

Other Europe 777 780 768

Asia and Pacific 491 513 290

All other .25 26 31

Total $ 7,789 8§ 7777 57614
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22. Information by Geographic Areas (cont’d)

Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements (cont'd)

l.ocation 1998 1997 1996

Net icome? Canada $ 133 $ 245 5 175
United States 144 136 70

South America 13 27 42

United Kingdom 2 22 5l
Germany 7 — (25}
Other Europe (98)"* 33 (5

Asia and Pacific 117 (n 13

All other 39 33 31

Consolidation eliminations 4 (29) 58

Net income before extraordinary item 399 468 410

Extraordinary gain — Canada - 17 —

Total $ 3199 $ 485 S 410

Total awscts Canada § 4,959 $ 4077 $ 4,159
at December 31 United Stares 2,008 1,844 1,820
South America 880 729 739

United Kingdom 953 946 921

Germany 1,195 1,228 1,262

Other Europe 837 1,094 1,082

Asia and Pacific 830 741 886

All other 516 498 477

Consolidation ehminations (2,277} (1,787) {(2,118)

Total $ 9,901 $ 9,374 $ 9,228

Capital expenditures Canada $ 326 S 186 $ 143
and investments United States 62 71 35
South America 188 118 43

United Kingdom 85 97 50

Germany 44 55 79

Qther Furope 35 54 36

Asia and Pacific 84 21 7

All other ) 53 39 49

Total $ 877 $ 641 $ 482

Average number Canada 11 11 11
of emplovees United States 4 4 4
{in thousdands) South America 3 3 4
United Kingdom 3 3 4

Germany 5 5 4

Other Europe 3 3 4

Asia and Pacific 5 2 1

All other 2 2 2

Total 36 33 34

* If presented to reflect the effect of prior years' income tax reassessments desenbed i nute 6, net mcame i Canada v 1997

would be reduced by S10Y and mcreased by 393 in the United Stares, 38 i the Umrted Kingdonr and 88 1 Germany,
** dncludes write-donar of $120 after tax related to the Aughinish alwming refincry.
*** tucludes gamt of $140 after tax related to the sale of a portion of the Company's investment m Nippon Light Metal

Company, [.td.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements {cont'd)

it meetlions of USS, exeept where mdicated)

23.Information by Product Sectors

The following presents selected imformation by major product sector, viewed on a stand-alone basis and as viewed
by senior management. Transactions between product sectors are conducted on an arm’s-length basis and reflect
market prices. Thus, profit on all alumina produced by the Company, whether sold to third parties or used in
the Company’s smelters, is included in the alumina and chemicals sector, Similarly, income from primary metal
operations is mainly profit on metal produced by the Company, whether sold to third parties or used in the
Company’s fabricating operations. Income from fabricated products businesses represents only the fabricating
profit on rolled products and downstream businesses,

Sales and operating revenues Operating income
Intersector Third parties
1998 1997 1994 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996
Alumina
and chemicals $§ 516 & 520 $ 507 § 509 S 336 5 329 0§ 113 %5 118 0§ 84
Primary metal 1,394 1,486 1,628 1,304 1,487 1,321 346 606 323
Fabricated products —_ — — 5,963 5,737 5,744 310 280 124
Intersector and
other items {910y (2,006} (2,135 13 17 20 117 (28) 143
0§ — ' — § — §7,789 37,777 $7.614 § 886 § 976 S5 574
Reconaliation to net income before
extraordinary item
Equity lass (48} (33 (1o
Corporate offices (137) {126} (117}
Interest (92) (1o (125}
Income taxes ~{210) {248) (2t2)
Net ineonte before extraordinary iten $ 399 § 468 § 410

Included in 1998 Intersector and other items are the gain of $146 from the sale of a portion of the Company’s interest
in NLM and the loss of $143 related to the impairment of the Aughinish alumina refinery assets to be sold in 1999,

Included in 1998 operating income for Fabricated products is $16 related ro rationalization costs in Europe and Asia.

Total Assets at Decembier 31 1998 1997 1996
Alumina and chemicals $1,501 51,409 S§1.357
Primary metal 3,037 2,880 2,795
Fabricared produers 4,706 4318 4,198
Cash, equity companies and other items 657 767 878

$9,901 $9374 $9228

Depreciation Capital Expenditures
1998 1997 1994 1998 1997 1996
Alumina and chemtcals $ 80 $ 78 5§ 75 8§ 137 S 126 S 142
Primary metal 147 138 136 338 220 127
Fabricared products 225 210 211 395 282 207
Intersector and other items o 10 10 9 7 13 6

§ 462 S 436 S 431 § 877 § 64l § 482

24 Prior Year Amounts

Certam prior vear amounts have been reclassified to conform with the 1998 presentation.
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Quarterly Financial Data

{unaudited) First Sccond Third Fourth Year
1998
Revenues $ 1,971 $ 2,008 $ 1,960 $ 2,084 $ 8,020
Cost of sales and operating expenses 1,497 1,549 1,514 1,516 6,076
Depreciation 110 113 116 123 462
Incotne taxes 78 76 44 12 210
Other items 163 81 179 344 873
Net income(!) $ 117 § 8 § 107 § 8% § 399
Dividends on preference shares 3 2 ) I 2 10
Net income artributable to common shareholders $ 114 § 84 § 104 § 87 § 389
Net income per common share (in US$)? $ 050 $ 037 $ 0.46 $ 0.38 $ 1.71
Net income under U.S. GAAPIY! $ 117 $ 94 $ 103 $ 103 $ 417
1997
Revenues S 1,898 § 2,030 § 1,965 $ 1,972 S 7.865
Cost of sales and Operating expenses 1,453 1,555 1,506 1,491 6,005
Depreciation 107 110 106 113 436
Income raxes 42 69 76 6l 248
Other items 153 180 197 178 708
Net income before extraordinary item 143 116 80 129 468
Extraordinary gain — — — 17 17
Net income!!" § 143 $ 1la ) 80 § 146 $ 485
Dividends on preference shares 3 2 2 3 10
Net income attriburable to common sharcholders 5 140 3 114 $ 78 $ 143 & 475
Net income before extraordinary jtem

per common share (m S8 S 062 S 0.50 S 0.34 $ 0.56 S 2.02
Extraordinary gain per common share (i USS) — — — 0.07 0.07
Ner income per common share (o US$)= $ 062 S 0.50 S 0.34 § 0.6l $ 2.09
Net income before extraordinary

iem under U.S. GAAPY 5 142 $ 141 $ 90 $ 131 S 504
Net income under U.S. GAAP'Y S 142 $ 141 $ 90 S 148 $  s21
1996
Revenues $ 2,015 S 1,972 S 1,881 g 1,821 $ 7.689
Cost of sales and operating cxpenses 1,532 1,506 1,464 1,417 5919
Depreciation 110 108 104 105 431
Income taxes 65 69 RE] 25 212
Other items 183 177 15§ 202 717
Net income 'V S 123 S 112 S 10 S 72 S 410
Bividends on preference shares 3 5 4 2 16
Net income attributable o common sharcholders S 120 $ 107 $ 97 $ 70 S 394
Net income per common share ¢ US$)2 S 053 $ 047 $ 043 s 0.31 $ 1.74
Net income under U.S. GAADP'Y S 120 L 118 $ 111 S 71 S 420

A The first quearter of 1998 tchded an after-tax charge of S1V related 1o Alean’s share of construciion contract losses amd restricnrmg
costs ap Nippon Light Metal Company, Ltd. (NTM) i Japan. The second quiarter of 1998 mcluded an after-tax charge of $16 refased
to Alcan’s share of restructuring costs at NILM. The third quarter of 1998 mcluded an after-tax gain of 320 for exclrange revaluation
of the Company’s accunmdated deforred tax labaiiy and after-tax charges of 37 for ratonabization costs i Farope. The fourth quarter

of 1998 ncluded wor after-tax gam of $140 from the sale of a portron of the Company’s teestment ot NLM, an after-tax loss of

$120 from the wnite-down for imparrment of the Aughonsh alumina refinery assets to be sold in 1999, an after-tax gaust of 38 pris-
cipally from the sale of Handy Chemicals Lid., and 89 from rationalization coses m Furope and Asta.

The first quarter of 1997 included an after-tax gam of $10 from the sale of a basiness and 326 front a favonrable tax adpestment

related to prior years. The third quarter of 1997 mcleded a special Charge of $30 after tax related 1o Alcan’s share of contract losses

and restructuring provisions at 45.6%-owmed NLM.

The first quarier of 1996 inclnded an after-tax charge of $12 on the me-substance defeasance of debentures, The third quarter of 1996
ineleded am afier-tax gam of 88 [rom the sale of businesses.

2 Net income per compron share calendations are based on the averape monber of conpnon shares awtstawnding v cach period.

B See mote § to the consolidated financial statements for explanation of differcuces betiween Canadiar and 115, GAAP.
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Eleven-Year Summary|

1998 1997 1996
Consolidated Income Statement [tems iinnullions of USS)
Rovennes
Sales and operating revenues 7,789 7777 7.al4
Other income sl 58 75
Total revenucs 8,020 7.865 7,689
Costs and expenses ’
Cost of sales and operaung expenscs 6,076 6,003 5,919
Depreciation 462 436 431
Selling, administrative and general expenses 448 444 422
Rescarch and development expenses 70 72 71
Interest 92 {43 125
Other expenses 219 54 88
Income raxes 210 24% 212
Equity income (loss) (48) {33 10)
Minority interests 4 (4) (h}
Net income {Loss] before extraordinary item 399 468 410
Extraordinary gain {loss) — 7 —
Net inconmwe {Loss) 399 485 410
Preference dividends 10 10 16
Net income (Loss) attriburable to common sharcholders 389 473 394
Consolidated Balance Sheet Items iimmidlions of USS)
Operating working capical 1,682 1,483 1,461
Property, plant and equipment — net 5,897 5,458 5.470
Total assers 9,901 9.374 9,228
Toral debre 1,789 1.515 1,516
Deferred income taxes 747 969 996
Preference shares 160 203 203
Common shareholders' equity 5,359 4,871 4,661
Per Common Share n USS;
Net income {L.oss) before extraordinary irem 1.71 2.02 1.74
Net income (Loss) 1.71 2.09 1.74
Dividends paid 0.60 0.60 .60
Commaon shareholders” equity 23.71 21.43 20.57
Marker price — NYSE close 26.81 27.69 33.63
Operating Data (o thousands of tonnes except for LME price)
Consehdated alunsnum shipments
Ingor products® 829 838 810
Fabricated products 1,823 1,694 1,539
Fabricanon of customer-owned metal 289 276 258
Total aluminum shipmuents 2,941 2,828 2,607
Consolidated primary aluminum production 1,481 1,429 1,407
Consolidated aluminum purchases 1,227 1,254 1,003
Consolidared aluminum inventaries (end of veari 469 451 408
Primary alununum capaciny -
Consolidared subsidiarics 1,706 1,558 1,561
Total consolidated subsidiaries and relared companies 1,706 1,695 1,698
Average three-month LME price (USS per tonne) 1,379 1,620 1,536
Other Statistics
Cash from operating activities (i nolfions of US§) 739 719 981
Capital expenditures fim nellions of USS) 877 641 482
Ratio of toral borrowings to equity (%) 24:76 2377 2377
Average number of cmployees (i thonsands) 36 13 34
Common sharcholders — registered @in thousands at end of yeari 20 21 32
Common shares outstanding g miiltions at end of year) 226 227 227
Registered in Canada (%4) 60 61 61
Registered in the United States (%) 39 39 39
Registered in other countries (%) 1 — —
Rerurn on average common sharcholders™ equity %) 7 10 9
Before extraordinary irem %) 10

* Incledes primary and secondary ingot and scrap.

** Primary alumpnent capacity has heen restated 1o reflect beteer the actual production levels achieved over a period of tune.



1995 1994 1993 1992 199 1990 1989 1988
9,287 8.216 7.232 7.596 7.748 8,757 8,839 8,529
100 109 75 69 82 162 208 97
9,387 8,325 7,307 7,665 7,830 8,919 9.047 8,626
7,247 6,740 6,002 6,300 6,455 6,996 6,682 6,072
447 431 443 449 429 193 333 316
484 528 551 596 635 659 600 523
76 72 99 125 131 150 136 132
204 219 212 254 246 197 130 137
61 95 106 118 163 65 62 9
326 112 (13} (173 {104) 126 350 497
(3) 129) (12} 53 8Y 211 97 97
4 (3 1 (5) — i (16) {223
543 94 (104} i112) {36} 543 %33 93]
- (280) — — — — — — —
263 96 {104) (1123 (36) 543 833 93]
24 21 18 23 20 22 21 30
239 73 {122) (1353 (56) 524 814 901
1,731 1,675 1,314 1,460 1,717 1,842 1,774 1,764
5,672 5,534 6,005 6,256 6,525 6,167 5.260 4,280
9,736 10,003 9.812 10,154 10,843 10,681 9.518 8.627
1,985 2,485 2.652 2.794 3,024 2,648 1,734 1,530
979 914 848 933 1,126 1,092 1,044 1,006
353 353 153 353 212 212 212 211
4,482 4,308 4,096 4,266 4.730 4,942 4,610 4,109
2.30 0.34 (0.54) {0.60) {0.25) 2.33 358 385
1.06 0.34 {1.54) {0.60) {0.25) 2,33 3.58 3.85
0.45 0.30 0.30 0.43 0.86 .12 1.12 0.59
19.84 19.17 18.28 19.06 2117 22.19 20.30 18.06
31.13 25.38 20.75 17.63 20.00 19.50 22.8% 21.75
801 897 RY7 870 566 857 743 832
1,733 1,763 1,560 1,389 1,333 1,488 1,518 1,446
225 189 91 206 143 81 75 80
2,759 2,849 2.538 2,465 2,344 2,426 2,336 2,358
1,278 1,435 1,631 1,612 1,695 1,651 1,643 1,619
1,365 1,350 863 675 591 646 718 716
449 433 403 418 463 447 539 480
1,561 1,561 1,711 1.711 1,676 1.685 1,685 1,680
1,712 1,712 1.862 1,862 1,827 1,836 1,836 1,831
1,830 1,500 1,161 1,278 1,333 1,636 1,916 2.306
1,044 65 444 465 659 760 970) 1,370
a41 336 370 474 880 1,367 1,466 676
29:71 35:65 37:63 17:63 37:63 33:67 26:74 26:74
39 42 46 4y 54 57 57 56
23 26 28 32 34 38 40 4]
226 225 224 224 223 223 227 228
61 55 59 69 68 54 44 54
38 44 40 30 31 44 54 43
1 ] 1 1 I 2 2 3
5 2 (3 i3 (1 11 19 24

11

All per-share amounts reflect the three-for-tiwo share split on May 9, 1989

See note § to the consolidated financial statements for DS, GAAP information.
Moan Alurppnpen Longted
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Corporate Governance

The business and affairs of Alcan are
managed by its Board of Directors acting
through the Management of the Company.
The Directors and Ofticers of Alcan are
named on the opposite page. {n discharging
its duries and obligations, the Alcan Board
acts in accordance with the provisions of
the Canada Business Corporations Act, the
Company’s constituting documents and
by-laws and other applicable legislation
and Alcan policies.

Alcan does not have a controlling share-
holder nor do any of the Directors represent
the investment of any minority sharcholder.

Corporate governance has traditionally
received the active attention of Alcan’s Board.
For instance, an intensive review of the guid-
ing principles of Alcan conducted by the
Board in the 1970s led to the publication

in 1978 of a policy statement entitled Afcan,
Its Purpose, Objectives and Policies, which
has remained fundamentally unchanged.
This statement represents the basic business
principles that guide Alcan employees in con-
ducting a widespread international enterprise
and has helped Alcan achieve public under-
standing and trust. To that original document,
a Code of Conduct was added in 1996 to
reinforce it with more detailed guidelines for
Alcan employees as well as consultants and
contractors engaged by Alcan,

The Montreal and Toronto stock exchanges
now require a formal description of corporate
governance practices by all listed companies.
Alcan’s disclosure in this regard is published
in the Management Proxy Circular issued

in connection with the forthcoming Annual
Meeting; a copy is available from Shareholder
Services at the address on page 69.

Committees of the Board (described brietly
at right) assist the Board in carrying out its
functions and make recommendations to

it on various matters. Membership of these
Committees is indicarted on the opposite page.

Alcan Ahemmum Limined

The Corporate Governance Committee

has the responsibility for reviewing Board
practices and performance, candidates for
directorship and Board Committee member-
ship. It also considers recommendations from
the Personnel Committee regarding Board
compensation and the appointments of

the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in
fulfilling its functions relating to corporate
accounting and reporting practices as well

as financial and accounting controls, in order
to provide eftective oversight of the financial
reporting process; it also reviews financial
statements as well as proposals for issues

of securities.

The Envirenment Committee has the
responsibility for reviewing policy, manage-
ment practices and performance of Alcan
in environmental matters.

The Personnel Committee has the responsi-
bility for reviewing all personnel policy and
emiployec relations matters (including com-
pensation), and for making recommendations
to the Corporate Governance Committee

on Board compensation and on the appoint-
ments of the Chairman of the Board and the
Chief Executive Qfficer.

A special committee composed of members
of the Personnel Committee administers the
Alcan Exccutive Share Option Plan.



Directors and Officers

{As at February 11, 1999)

Directors

Jobhn R, Evans, C. (155

Chairman of the Board

of Alcan Aluminium Limited, Montreal
Age 69, director since 1986

Sonja 1. Bata, O.C7
Vice Chairman, Bata Shoe Foundation, Toronto
Age 72, director since 1979

W. R C. Blundell, O.C5 7
Director of various companies, Toronto
Age 71, director since 1987

Jacgues Bouge, O.C.°

President and Chief Executive Officer
of Alcan Aluminium Limited, Montreal
Age 51, director since 1989

Warren Chippindale, FCAL C AT
Director of various companies, Montreal
Age 70, director since 1986

Travis Engen® 3~

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
of ITT Industrics, Inc., New York

Age 54, director since 1996

Allan I, Gotlieh, C.C. 157
Director of various companies, Toronto
Age 70, director since 1989

J. E. Newall, O.C_ 507

Chairman and Direcror of

NOVA Chemicals Corporation, Calgary
Age 63, director since 1985

Dr, Peter H. Pearse, (. M.5
Natural resources consultant, Vancouver
Age 66, director since 1989

Sir George Russefl, C.B.E.157
Chairman of 3i Group plc, London
Age 63, director since 1987

Guy Saint-Pierre, O.C.1-~
Chairman of SNC-Lavalin Group Inc., Montreal
Age 64, director since 1994

Gerbard Schubnever! -

President and Chief Executive Officer
of Siemens Corp., New York

Age 60, director since 1996

Paul M, Tellier, C.C.”

President and Chief Executive Oflicer

of Canadian National Railway Company,
Montreal

Age 59, director since 1998

Officers

Jacgues Bougie

President and Chicf Exccutive Qfficer
Robert 1. Ball

Executive Vice President

Clande Chanmberland

Executive Vice President,

Technology and Major Projects

Jeau-Pierre M. Tagas

Executive Vice President,
Furope

Richard B. Feans
Executive Vice President,
Fabricated Products — North America

Emery P2 LeBilane
Executive Vice President,
Alimina and Primary Metal

Frevaldo N. Santos
Exccutive Vice President,
South America

Brian \W. Strurgell
Executive Vice President, Asia/Pacific
and Corporate Development

Srresly Thadlrani

Execurtive Viee President and

Chicf Financial Officer

Cyuthia Carvoll

Vice President, Bauxite, Alunting and Chemticals
Danicl Gagiier

Vice President, Corporate and

Environmental Affairs

Gaston Quellet

Vice President, Human Resources,
Occupational Health and Safery

Pk, Pal
Vice President, Chief Legal Officer
and Secretary

Clewn K. Litcas”
Treasurer
Denis G, (' Brien
Controller

Alfcan Atavetoen Lomred

T Member of Andnt
Cunnuntiee

S Charrman of Andu
Connnrttee

Menther of Personnel
Comnntiee

Y Chairman of Personnel
Conmmltice

S Member of Enviromnent
Coammtice

* Chatrnian of
Fnviromnent Commitiee

T Member of Corporate
Gorernance Conmtice

> Charrnan of Corporate

Covernanee Conpnitice

“Effectne Aprl 11999
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Shareholder Information

Common Shares

The principal markets for trading in Alcan’s com-
mon shares are the New York and Toronto stock
exchanges. The common shares are also rraded on
the Montreal, Vancouver, Chicago, Pacific, London,
Paris, Brussels, Amsterdam, Frankfurt and Swiss
stock exchanges.

The transfer agents for the common shares are
CIBC Mellon Trust Company in Montreal, Toronto,
Winnipeg, Regina, Calgary and Vancouver, Chase
Mellon Sharcholder Services, L.1..C. in New York,
and CIBC Mellon Trust Company in England.

Common share dividends are pawd quarterly on

or about the 20th of March, June, September and
December 1o shareholders of record on or abourt
the 20th of February, May, August and November,
respectively.

Preference Shares

The preference shares are listed on the Montreal,
Toronto and Vancouver stock exchanges. The
transfer agent for the preference shares is CIBC
Mellon Trust Company.

Investment Plans

The Company offers holders of common shares
two convenient ways of buving additional Alean
common shares without payment of brokerage
commissions. These are known as the Dividend
Reinvestment Plan and the Share Purchase Plan.
Copies of the prospectus deseribing these Plans
may be obtained from Shareholder Services at the
address on page 69,

Securities Reports for 1998

The Company’s Annual Information Form, to

be filed with the Canadian securities commissions,
and the annual 10-K report, to be filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commussion in the
United States, will be available to sharcholders
after April 1, 1999, Copics of both may be
obtained from Sharcholder Services at the address
on page 69,

Dividend Prices® and Average Daily Trading Volumes
New York Stock Exchange ¢Liss; Toronto Stock Exchange (CANS)

1998 Uss High Low  Close Avg. Daily High Low  Close Avg. Daily
Quarter Volume Volume
First 0.150 34 2 242 31 W4 371,616 48.50 3510 4425 563,447
Second 0.150 337Ms  25%ne 2796 400,443 4795 3825 4050 482,864
Third 0.150 2816 18"V 237he 322,500 41.60 2830 36.15 486,748
Fourth 0.150 2881 21 s 27 Y16 456,005 44.85 33.60 41.50 585,815
Year 0.600
o7 0T o N
Quarter
First 0.150 38 s 33 33 s 562,300 3225 4570 46.75 641,900
Second 0.150 37 0 30V 34VMhs 430,900 52,10 4265 4710 587,800
Third 0.150 40 e 33 34 s 470,600 5370 46.65 48.40 547,600
Fourth 0,150 35Va  26e 27 Y 499,133 4925 3710 39.40 679,694
Year _ 0600

® The share prices are those reported as “New York Stock Exchange — Consolidated Trading ™ and reparted by The Toronto
Stock Exchange. Smce April 15, 1996, share prices on The Toronto Stock FExchange are expressed m decimals,

Further Information

Contact for sharcholder account inquiries:
Linda Burton

Manager, Sharcholder Services

Telephone: (514) 848-8050

or 1-888-252-5226 (toll tree)
shareholderservices@alcan.com

Investor contact:

Alan G. Brown

Director, Investor and Media Relations
Telephone: (514} 848-8368
investor.relations@alcan.com

Alcan Mumenoer Lenueed

Media contact:

Alain Bergeron

Manager, Investor and Media Relations
Telephone: (314) 848-8232
media.relations@alcan.com




The Alcan Group uorldwide*)

(As at February 11, 19%9;

Parent Company and Waorld
Headquarters

Alcan Aluminium Limited

1188 Sherbrooke Streer West
Montreal, Quchec, Canada
H3A 3G2

Mailing Address:

P.O. Box 6090

Montreal, Quebec, Canada
H3C 3A7

Telephone: (514) 848-8000
Telecopier: (514) 848-8115
www.alcan.com

North America

Bermuda
Alcan (Bermuda) Limited
Alean Nikkei Asia Holdings Lid. (60%)'

Canada

Alcan Aluminium Limited

Alcan Cable

Alcan Chemicals

Alcan Foil Products

Alcan International Limited

Alcan Smelters and Chemicals Limited

Jamaica
Alcan Jamaica Company

United States

Alcan Aluminum Corporation
Alcan Cable

Alcan Chemicals

Alcan Foil Products

Alcan Global Automorive Products
Alcan Ingot

Alcan Light Gauge Products

Alcan Sheet Products

South America
Brazil
Alcan Aluminio do Brasil Ltda.
Consorcio Aluminio do Maranhio -
Alumar (10%)?
Mineragao Rio do Norte S.A. (12.5%)
Petracoque 5.A. - Industria & Comércio (25%)

Africa
Ghana
Ghana Bauxite Company Limited (80%)

Guinea
Compagnie des Bauxites de Guinée (16.8%)

* This list names only the principal businesses of the Alcan
Group and reflects the sale of aluninag refinmg operarions

in freland and Guinea and of a chemicals aperation in
Canada as well as the reduction of the mterest beld in
Nippon Light Metal Company, Ltd. (N1.A) i Japan.

A complete list is contained in the Company’s 10-K Report,

avaitable from Alcaw’s headquarters in Montreal,

Europe
France
Alcan France (Technal)

Germany
Alcan Deutschland GmbH
Aluminium Norf GmbH (50%)

ltaly
Alcan Alluminio S.p.A,

Norway
Vigeland Meral Refinery A/S (50%)

Spain
Alcan Tbherica S.A.

Sweitzerland
Alcan Aluminium AG
Alcan Rorscbach AG

United Kingdom
British Alcan Aluminium pic

Pacific

Aunstralia

Alcan South Pacific Pey Lid.
Queensland Alumina Limited (21.4%)

Clrina

Alcan Asia Lirnited

Alcan Asia Pacific Limited

Alcan Nikkei China Limited (49%)!

Alcan Nikkei Korea Limited (49%)!

Nonfemet International (China-Canada-Japan)
Aluminium Company Limited (27%)!

India
Indian Aluminium Company, Limited (54.6%)

Japan
Alcan Asia Limited (Tokyo Branch)

Korea
Alcan Nikkel Korea Limited (Seoul Branch}

Mualavsia

Alcan Nikkei Asia Company Ltd. (60%)’
Aluminium Company of Malaysia Berhad (35.5%)!
Alcom Nikkej Specialty Coatings Sdn Bhd (47.7%)!

Thailand
Alcan Nikkei Siam Limited (42%}!
Alcan Nikkei Thai Limited (46.6%)!

b Alean holds additional mterest mdivectly through is
portfudio mestment, N1AL

2 Interest i the Alwnar aluvmna refmery is beld througlh
Alcan Alwminio do Brasil Lida.

Alean Aluminnes Loneted

Visit Alcan’s
Web Site:
wiedlecan.com

Further informanon
on Alcan and its
activitivs is available
on Alcan’s World

Wide Web site and
contained in various
Company publications.
These publications,
such as A Compmrtment
to Continual Environ-
mental Inprovement
as well as Alcan’s
Environmental and
Healih and Satety
policies, are available
by writing to the
address shown at
upper left.

Version
francaise

Pour obtemir la
version frangaise de
ce rapport, veuillez
écrire aux Services
aux actionnaires dont
IPadresse figure dans le
comn supérieur gauche,

&

This report was printed
wsing vegetable-based
inks and is recvelable.
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